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Independent auditor’s report
to the directors of Lemo Services Co., Ltd
(incorporated in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of S4EERLS IRFEARISBIRZAE Lemo
Services Co., Ltd (formerly known as 12%E %% EEMI BRI R RZ DB RS Fujian Lemo loT

Technology Co., Ltd and fRi2 S4EEE RSB BR 2 5] Fujian Lemo loT Technology Co., Ltd*)

(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 4 to 81, which comprise
the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group and the statements of financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and the
consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025 and notes, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and
31 August 2025 and of the Group’s consolidated financial performance and the Group’s
consolidated cash flows for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and
the eight months ended 31 August 2025 in accordance with the basis of preparation and
presentation set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (*HKSAs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the PRC, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.




Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Preparation and Presentation

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the
basis of preparation and presentation. The consolidated financial statements are prepared
for the purpose of the preparation of a prospectus by the directors of the Company in
connection with the initial public offering of H shares of the Company on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial
statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Other matter

We draw attention to the fact that the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the eight
months ended 31 August 2024 and any of the related notes have not been audited.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation and
presentation set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



kPG
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPo1G  [dpv2hen LIP  Xoamen Emach

12" Floor, Tower A
China Resources Building
93 Hubin East Road
Siming District,

Xiamen, 361001

China

25 November 2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Eight months ended

Year ended 31 December 31 August
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB 000
(unaudited)

Revenue . .. .......... 4{a) 330,154 586,836 797,991 554,254 630,732
Costofsales .......... (244,819)  (341,591)  (510,192)  (326,330)  (400,000)
Gross profit . . ........ 85,335 245,245 287,799 227,924 230,732
Other net income/(loss) . . . 5 200 (14,489) (518) (713) 1,159
Selling and distribution

expenses. . . ......... {42,749) (77,114)  (113,867) (74,525) (81,407
Administrative expenses . . (18,377 (29,222) (46,066) (24,423) (28,646)
Research and development

GXpENSeS. . . ... ... ... (8,330) {16,191) (21,497 (13,984) (14,885)
Profit from operations . . . 16,079 108,229 105,851 114,279 106,953
Finance costs . . ...... .. 6(a) (1,329 2,008) (3,333) (2,278) (1,322)
Changes in the carrying

amount of the redemption

liability .. .......... 18(c) {4,985) {3,007) (l64) (164) -
Profit before taxation. . . . 6 9,765 103,214 102,304 111,837 105,631
Income tax. .. ......... 7(a) (3,284) (15,874) {16,497) {17,956) (17,081)
Profit for the year/period . 6,481 87,340 83,807 93,881 88,550
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the

Company ........... 6,481 87,340 85,807 93,881 88,550
Profit for the year/period . 6,481 37,340 85,807 03,881 88,550
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (RMB) . . 10 0.12 1.69 1.72 1.88 1.77

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Eight months ended
Year ended 31 December 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMBE'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited})

Profit for the year/period . . . .. 6,481 87,340 85,807 03,881 88,550

Other comprehensive income
for the year/period (after tax
and reclassification
adjustments)

Item that are or may be
reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of operations
outside Chinese Mainland . . - - - - (219)

Other comprehensive income
for the year/period. .. ... ... - - - - (219

Total comprehensive income
for the year/period......... 6,481 87,340 85,807 93,881 88,331

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the
Company................. 6,481 87,340 85,807 93,881 88,331

Total comprehensive income
for the year/period. ... ... .. 6,481 87,340 85,807 93,881 88,331

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
{Expressed in Renminbi)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment.....
Intangible assets ...............
Trade receivables ..............
Financial assets measured at
fair value through other
comprehensive mmcome ........
Deferred tax assefs . vvvvvevnaen.

Other non-current assets .........

Current assets
Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss.....
Inventories .........cucuvnuveen
Trade and other receivables ......
Prepayments ..................
Prepaid taxes .................
Cash and cash equivalents .......

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables ........
Contract liabilities .............
Bank loans ....covveerernnnnn.
Lease liabilities................
Redemption liability ............
Other current liabilities..........
Current taxation ...........c....

Net current (liabilities)/assets . . ..

Total assets less current
liabilities ..................

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans . .......ccvvvenn..
Lease liabilities................

NET ASSETS.................

OF FINANCIAL POSITION |

As at 31 December 31‘?“:1“
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'G00

1 94,675 184,618 245,035 223,609
12 358 27 191 259
7 - - - 3,448
13 - 10,007 10,172 -
27(b) 2,292 4,702 3,448 4,810
14 4,661 5,554 11,108 11,615

101,986 205,152 269,954 243,741

15 20,519 15,751 — 60,097
16 5411 6,198 5,571 9,638
17 46,905 63,594 75463 88,844
17 39457 76228 99,838 100,914

27(a) - - 2,180 -

18(a) 43211 38,891 19,684 46,694

155,503 200,662 202,736 306,187

20 69752 152,184 161,871 143,911
2] 2,676 4,244 1,607 1,695
22 18271 42425 43475 54,532
23 4,682 8,426 6,083 3,878
24 75062 16,009 - -
33 100 104 104

27(a) 2,951 9,116 5210 12,606

173,427 232,504 218,350 216,726

22 - 13,697 11,398 -
23 6,796 7,728 2,919 1,807
6,796 21,425 14,317 1,807

77,266 151,885 240,023 331,395




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Renminbi)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Paid-in capital/share capital
Reserves . ..vvvvion i,
TOTAL EQUITY
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY AND

TOTAL EQUITY

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 31 August

Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'OO0D  RMBEO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO

28(c) 11,844 10,954 30,000 50,000

65,422 140,931 190,023 281,395

77266 151,885 240,023 331,395

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 November 2025.

/WVW 4%“

Han Daohu
Director

Feng Baocal
Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.

7



STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Expressed in Renminbi}

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment.....
Intangible assets ...............
Investments in subsidiaries .......

Financial assets measured at
fair value through other

comprehensive income ........
Deferred tax assets .............

Other non-current assets .........

Current assets
Financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss.....
INventories . ....veuwuvennennn.
Trade and other receivables ......
Amounts due from subsidiaries....
Prepayments ..................
Prepaid taxes ............ ...,

Cash and cash equivalents ......,

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables ........
Amounts due to subsidiaries ......
Contract liabilities .............
Bank lIeans ...........iciun.n.
Lease liabilities...ooviivvun...
Redemption liability ............
Other current liabilities..........
Cumrent taxation ...............

Net current (iiabilities)lassets

Total assets less current

liabilities ..................

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans .............. ...
Lease liabilities................

NET ASSETS.................

Note

11

i3

i5

14

22

As at
As at 31 December 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

93,759 175,967 236,973 215,378
355 271 191 259
4,700 10,950 12,380 12,389

- 10,007 10,172 -
2,110 3,592 1,148 1,741
4,490 3,029 3,316 3,850

105414 203,816 264,180 234,117

20,519 15,750 - 60,067
3,865 4,799 3,690 4,667
46,605 50,429 50,177 51,897
4,341 31,824 41,496 46,127
39,305 52,487 50,124 48,330
- - 2,167 -
37,653 32,762 12,061 27,535

152,288 188,051 159,715 238,653

67,972 135,639 133,522 109,164

2,272 755 9,830 6,830
2,676 4,244 1,607 1,695
16,971 42,425 40,472 54,532
4,641 6,852 4,086 2,012
75,062 16,009 - -
33 100 104 104
2,874 8,792 - 5,871

172,501 214816 189,621 180,208

- 13,697 11,398 -

78,405 158,302 221,466 291,895




STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

As at 31 December 31 August

Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RA{B'000 RMB 00X} RMB'G00 RMB g60

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Paid-in capital/share capital ...... 28(c) 11,844 10,954 50,000 50,000
ReSerVES «vvvver e nnearnnn 66,561 147,348 171,466 241,895
TOTAL EQUITY .............. 73405 158302 221466 201 803

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 November 2025,

Han Daohuy| Feng Baocai
Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial staterments.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Remminbi)

Operating activities

Cash generated from
-operations. . . ........

Income tax paid ........

Net cash generated from
operating activities . . . .

Investing activitics
Payment for purchase of
property, plant and
equipment and intangible
assets. .. ... ... ...
Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and
equipment. . .........
Investment in financial
assets measured at fair
value through profit or

Investment in financial
assets measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive income . .

Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets measured
at fair value through
profitorloss.........

Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets measured
at fair value through other
comprehensive income . .

Interest received . . . . . . ..

Net cash used in investing
activities . ... ..... ..

Eight months ended

Year ended 31 December 31 August
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
{unaudited)
18(b) 87,140 176,399 213,772 189,349 199,321

(3,828) (12,119 {21,329) (14,627) (8,867)

83,312 164,280 192,443 174,722 190,454

(46,272)  (134,626) (175,693) (121.562)  (105,660)

1,396 1,766 3,676 2,780 1,727

(35,000) (15,000) {33,002) (20,000) (75,000)

- {10,000) (20,251) (10,072) -

24,613 20,000 43,849 15,850 15,018

- - 20,308 10,000 10,178
5 - 197 1,034 300 168 130

(55,006)  (136,826)  (155,813)  (122,836) (153,557)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Financing activities
Capital element of lease

renfals paid. . .. ... ...

Interest element of lease

rentals paid. . ... ... ..

Proceeds from new bank

Repayment of bank loans . .

Proceeds from maturity of

restricted bank deposits . .

Partial settiement of the

redemption liability . . ..

Payment of listing

EXPENSeS. . . .. ... ...
Interest paid. . . ........

Capital contribution from
the employee incentive

platform. ... ........

Dividends paid to equity

shareholders .........

Cash receipts from equity

shareholders . .. ......

Net cash used in financing

activities . .. ... .. ...

Net change in cash and

cash equivalents . . . . ..

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the

year/period . . ........

Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes. . .......

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the

yearfperiod .........

Note

18f¢)

18(c)

18(¢)
18(c)

18(¢c)

18(c)

Eight months ended -

Year ended 31 December 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

(4,031) {7,466) (9,983) (6,171) (5,357)
(507) (653) 597N (411) (215)
21,250 69,760 52,780 42,880 54,500
(23,000) (31,854) {53,952) (34,060) (54,825)
700 - - - -
- (62,060 - - -
- - {1,762) - (2,819
(830) (1,410 (2,863) (1,748) (1,123)
- 2,674 - - -
- (3,730 {39,9883) (38,034 (12)
- 2,985 528 - -
(6,418) B _(31,774) (55,8%’/_‘) N (3754%) (9,851}
21,828 4,320 {19,207y 14,342 27,046
21,383 43211 38,891 38,391 19,684
- - - - (36)
43,211 38,891 19,684 53,233 46,694

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lemo Services Co., Ltd (SREERILEARESBLAH FRAF]) (formerly known as Fujian Lemo IoT Technology Co.,
Lud (8 2 S5 Be BRLEE Ji 4775 P42 BD) and Fujian Lemo 10T Technology Co., Ltd (18 B BRI Rl B FRATD) (the
“Company”) was established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC™) on 29 May 2014 as a limited liability
company under the Companies laws of the PRC. The Company was converted into a joint stock limited liability
company on 29 August 2024,

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) are principally engaged in providing mechanical
massage service.

The financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 prepared in
accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises applicable to the enterprises in the PRC (“PRC
GAAP”) have been audited by Fujian Zhongzhenghengrui Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd (B EAEIH& 5
FiHEE A A |) and Fujian Zhonghenghongxin Certified Public Accountants Co., Lid (2R (F &M
A R4 ) respectively. The audited financial statements of the Company for the vear ended 31 December 2024
prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP are not yet available.

The Company has direct or indirect interests in the following principal subsidiaries since their establishment,
which are private companies:

Particulars of
Place and date of issued and paid-up Proportien of
Company Name establishment capital ownership interest Principal activities

Held by the  Held by the
Company  subsidiary

Fu'an Lemo Health PRC/16 March RMB 500,000/ 100% — Refurbishment
Technology Co., Ltd 2021 RMB500,000 and repairment
(EE SRR AR of massage
)] (notes (a) and equipment
BY.

Fuzhou Lemo Selected PRC/24 November RMB1,000,000/ 100% — Online sale of
Life Service 2022 RMB750,000 household
Technology Co., Ltd massage chairs
(IR B P A )T R T and massage
BECERAT) (notes accessories
(a)and (b)). .. ... ..

Leme IoT Technology PRC/30 November RMBS500,000/ 100% — Provision of
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd, 2022 RMB500,000 mechanical
CREYBREGUNE massage
FRATRD (notes (a} and service
(BY . o

Lemo IoT Technology PRC/8 December RMBS500,000/ 100% — Provision of
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd. 2022 RMBS500,000 mechanical
(REDEREEMNE massage
BRATD (notes (a) and service
(). o

Lemo IoT Technology PRC/28 December RMBS500,000/ 100% — Provision of
(Chengdu) Co., Ltd. 2022 RMBS500,000 mechanical
(R EY R R E massage
FRAF) (notes (a) and service
Y.

Lemobar (Shanghai) JoT  PRC/9 Febroary RMBS500,000/ 100% — Provision of
Technology Co., Lid. 2023 RMB3500,000 mechanical
(BRI BR massage
HRAT) (notes (a) service
and (b)) ... ... .. ..
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Notes:

()  The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation is for identification purpose only,
The company was registered as a limited liability company under the PRC Law,

(b) No audited financial statements have been prepared for these entities from the date of establishment to
31 December 2022 or from the date of establishment to 31 December 2023, or for the years ended 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024.

All companies comprising the Group have adepted 31 December as their financial year end daie,

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IJASB™). As the Group’s first conselidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards” has been applied save for certain presentation and disclosure provisions therein. The date of transition
to IFRS Accounting Standards was 1 January 2022, Further details of the material accounting policy information are set
o in note 2.

The TASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards. For the purpose of preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has adopted all applicable new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards for
cach of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025 (the “Track Record
Period”), except for any new standards or interpretations that are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2025, The revised and new accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the accounting year beginning on or afler 1 Januwary 2025 are set out in note 33.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Goveming the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

The zccounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

The stub period corresponding financial information of the Group comprises the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and other explanatory information
(the “Stub Period Corresponding Financial Information™). The Stub Period Corresponding Financial Information has been
prepared in accordance with the same basis of preparation and presentation adopted in respect of the consolidated financial
statements,

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(a)  Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the historfcal cost
basis except for cerfain financial assets are stated at their fair value as explained in note 2(d).

The consolidated financial statements is presented in Renminbi (“RMB™), rounded to the nearest thousand
(“RMB’000™), unless otherwise indicated. Most of the companies comprising the Group are operating in Chinese
Mainland and their finctional currency is RMB, hence, RMB is used as the presentation currency of the Group.

(k) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reperted
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions {o accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or inthe period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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(e}  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which conirol ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transacifon gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resuliing from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(h)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

(d) Other investments in securities
The Group’s policies for investment in securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out below,

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initiafly stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
29(e). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification,

(i)  Non-eguity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Expecied credit losses, interest income calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(s)(ii}(a)), foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI™) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the investment is held within
a business mode] whose objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised cost. The difference between the fair value and the amortised
cost is recognised in OCI. When the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in QCI is
recycled from equity to profit or loss,

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
{recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or
loss.

(e}  Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plani and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 2(g)).
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The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note
2(u)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The proceeds from selling any

such items and the related costs are recognised in profit or loss.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful Jives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components),

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised

in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Properties leased forownuse .. ....... ... ......... 2 — 5 years
— Massage equipment. . . ... ... .o 2 — 3 years
— Office and other equipment. . . . ... .. ............. 2 — 5 years
—Motor vehicles. ., . ............. . ... ... ... 5 years
— Leasehold improvement . . . . .................... The shorter of the lease terms

or the estimated useful life of the assets

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
(fy  Intangible assets

Research and development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to research and development
activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the nature of the Group’s
research and development activities, the criteria for the recognition of such costs as an asset are generally not met
until late in the development stage of the project when the remaining development costs are immaterial, Hence both

research costs and development costs are.generally recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii}).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit or loss,

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

—Software. .. .......... . oL 2 - 5 years

The useful life of software was assessed based on the expected service life during which relevant software
performs its desired functionality.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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(g} Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obiain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
leases that have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of low-value items. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
If not capitalised, the associated lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability, and are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2{e) and 2(h)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policies applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost (see notes 2(d)(i),
2(s)(ii)(ay and 2(h)(f)). Any excess of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted for
as additional lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if such modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, In this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out
in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Gronp has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the change in consideration as negative
variable lease payments in profit or loss in the peried in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

In the consclidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is

determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”s) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost {(including cash and cash equivalents, negotiable certificate of deposit, trade receivables and other
receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and expected amounts.,

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following rates if the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate,

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:
- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the

instrument is less than 12 months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of defanlt occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables without a significant financing component are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credif risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment, that
includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit

or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account,
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Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer,
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group otherwise determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off,

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units
(“CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro
rata basis,

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised,

(i) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value as follows:

Costs is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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) Contract liabilities )

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 2(s)(i)). A contract liability is also recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also be recognised (see note 2(k)).

(k) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration and only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due,

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note

2(h)(i)).
1)) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see note 2(h){i}).

(m) Trade and other payables (other than refund liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which cage they are
stated at invoice amounts.

(n) Redemption liability

A contract that contains an obligation for the Company to purchase its own equity instruments for cash or
another financial asset gives rise to a financial liability even if the Company's obligation to purchase is conditional
on the counterparty exercising its right to redeem. The redemption liability is initially measured at the present value
of the redemption amount and subsequently measured at amortised cost with any gains or losses on remeasurement
of the redemption liability being recegnised in profit or loss as changes in the carrying amount of the redemption
liability. As the Company does not have the right at the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liabijity
for at least twelve months after the reporting period, the amounts are classified as current liability.

The then carrying amount of the redemption liability is reclassified to equity upon a termination of the
counterparty’s redemption right.

(0} Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest meihod. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with note 2(u).
(p) Employee benefits
(i) Short termn employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the
amount expected te be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result

of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided,
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(ii}  Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-setiled share-based payments granted to employees and directors is
measured using the equity allocation method, of which underlying equity value is measured using the discounted cash
flow (“DCF”) method, taking into account any transfer restrictions imposed on the vested equity instruments, and
based on the most likely outcome of the performance condition where there are mutually exclusive vesting
alternatives.

The amount is generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the
related vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number
of awards that meet the related vesting conditions at the vesting date. The equity amounts are recognised in the
share-based payment reserve until the awarded shares are vested (when it is transferred to the capital reserve), The
subscription price received from the grantees, which is refundable when the awards are forfeited, is recognised as a
deposit liability until the share-based payments vests.

(q) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI,

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previcus years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unuosed tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount
of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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(r)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products are sold, based on historical warranty
data and a weighting of possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will enly be confirmed by the occurrence or non-ogcurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(s} Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods or the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of time value of money by using
a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is
accrued separately under the effective interest method, The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing component
if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

(a}  Revenue from mechanical massage service

The Group generates revenue from the provision of mechanical massage services to customers under the
Direct Mode and mechanical massage POS operation support services to entities who are responsible for
sourcing and establishing POS in local regions (“Local Partners™) under the Partner Mode,

- Direct Mode

The Group operates a network of mechanical massage equipment or pads which are located at the
Group’s poinis of service (the “POS") for providing mechanical massage services to customers
under the Direct Meode. Revenue is recognised when the mechanical massage services are
rendered to customers at the POS, The payment for service is usually collected from the customer
in advance, either immediately before the customer requests the service or when the customer
purchases a prepaid massage service package from the Group.

- Partner Mode

The Group supports the Local Partners in Chinese Mainland to operate the mechanical massage
POS that are managed by the Local Partners under the Pariner Mode. The operating support
integrates the continuous access to the Group's mechanical massage equipment, IT technology
and business management platform as an integral service during the partner contract period, and
it is provided in exchange for a share of the gross transaction value (the “GTV") received by the
Local Partners from the relevant POS (subject to a contractual minimum and capped amount
where applicable). Revenue amounting to the GTV sharing that is entitled to the Group is
recognised when the mechanical massage POS operation support services are rendered to Local
Partners.
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The Group sells mechanical massage equipment and provides mechanical massage POS operation
support services to Local Partners in Thailand, As the mechanical massage equipment are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other services, the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under the contract, allocated between all the
goods and services promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Generally, the Group establishes standalone selling prices with reference 1o the observable prices
of products or services sold separately in comparable circumstances. Revenue for sales of
mechanical massage equipment is recognised when customers accept the products upon delivery
and revenue for providing of mechanical massage POS operation support services is recognised
when the mechanical massage POS operation support services are rendered to Local Partners,

The Group has set up its own mini-program and the customers can make advance payments to the Group
via the mini-program. The Group mainly receives advance payments from customers in the form of deposits
paid by customers to their accounts {which are refundable before they are consumed) and prepaid massage
service packages sold to customers {(which are non-refundable and entitle customers to have specified
guantities of access to mechanical massage services within a fixed period of validity). These amounts can be
consumed by customers to pay for the mechanical massage services at the POS they choose to visit, which may
be operated by the Group under the Direct Mode or the Group’s Local Partners under the Partner Mode.

In cases where the advance payments from customers are consumed at the Local Partners’ POS, the
Group recognises the portion of its GTV sharing relating to the mechanical massage POS operation support
service as revenue according to the policy described under the Partner Mode. The remaining amounts are paid
to the relevant Local Partners.

For the non-refundable prepaid massage service packages, the Group does not expect to be entitled to
a breakage amount of the customers’ unexercised rights. The nnused balances are recognised as revenue upon
expiry of the validity period.

(b)  Revenue from sales of household massage equipment and massage accessories

The Group sells household massage equipment and massage accessories to retail customers through
self-operated online stores. Payment is collected by online e-commerce platform when customers place
purchase crders and sales revenue is recognised when customers accept the products upon delivery,

The Group typically offers retail customers a right of return for a period of 7 days upon customer
acceptance, which gives rise to variable consideration. The Group estimates and updates the variable
consideration (subject to a constraint) and the related right to recover returned goods with all reasonably
available information at each reporting date.

{c)  Revenue from digital advertising service

Revenue from digital advertising service mainly represents revenue generated from advertisement
service in the form of pop-up banners in the Group’s mini program and Wechat official accounts, The
advertisement contracts are signed between the Group and the advertising agencies to establish the service to
be provided by the Group and relevant performance measures, mainly including cost per click (based on the
number of clicks of the advertisement and a fixed unit price for each web article). Revenue from digital
advertising service is recognised when the services are provided.

(d}  Other practical expedients applied
In addition, the Group has applied the following practical expedients: For sales contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less, the Group has not disclosed the information related to the

aggregaied amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations in accordance
with paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15,
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(ii)  Revenue from other sources and other income
(a)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. The “effective interest rate™ is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(b)  Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

[(3] Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of group companies
at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the reporting date, Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of

the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated in the
exchange reserve,

{(u) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
(v)  Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group {which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is contrelled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i} has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting pelicies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Determining the lease term

As explained in note 2(g), the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease term at the commencement date for leases that include renewal
options exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance of that underlying asset to the
Group's operation. The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the amount
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.
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(ii) Value added tax (the “VAT”) and income tax

The Group generates revenue from the provision of mechanical massage services to customers under the Direct
Mode and mechanical massage POS operation support services to Local Partners under the Partner Mode in Chinese
Mainland during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 Augusi 2025.
The Group is subject to VAT and income tax in Chinese Mainland. Evaluation of relevant tax positions of the Group
involves judgment as to the interpretation and application of the relevant tax laws, The Group has exercised the best
judgement of its tax obligations based on current facts and circumstances,

{b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 26 and 2%(e) contain information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of
share granted and financial instruments. Other significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values
of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses. The ugeful lives and residual values
are based on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expenses for future periods are adjusted prospectively if there are significant changes from
previous estimates,

(ii}  Expected credit losses for trade and other receivables

The credit losses for trade and other receivables are based on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, which are
based on the Group’s past cellection history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions and inputs used, see note 29(a). Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and the Group may be necessary to
make additional loss allowances in future periods.

(iii) Nef realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of businesses, less
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the
current market conditions and the historical experience of selling products with similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer preferences and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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4

{a)

Revenue

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 4(b).

(0

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue from contracts with

customers within the scope of
IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products or

service lines

Revenue from mechanical
massage services

— Direct Made . ... ........

—Partner Moede . . . .........

Revenue from sales of household
massage equipment and
massage accessories. . . ... ..

Revenue from digital advertising
Service. . . ... ... ... ...

Revenue from sales of mechanical
massage equipment to
Local Partners . . . ... .....

Others#. . .. ..........,..

Year ended 31 December

The principal activities of the Group are providing mechanical massage services. Further details regarding the

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major products or service lines is as follows:

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'00G RMB'600 RMB'060 RMB'060 RMB008
(unaudited)

245,166 472,125 668,750 466,646 526,579
70,963 95,580 114,176 78,304 87,789
7,943 9,073 8,560 5,707 4,153
3,098 376 1,712 922 1,295
- - - - 5,623
2,984 9,682 4,793 2,675 5,293
330,154 586,836 797,991 554,254 630,732

Others mainly include revenue of massage service generated from offline massage centre operated by
the Group and revenue of sales of massage equipment spare parts to Local Partners.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition and by
geographic markets is disclosed in notes 4(b)(i) and 4(b)(iii), respectively.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and decentralised and the Group does not have any single customer

with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025.

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information

is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following three reportable segments, No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

Mechanical massage service under Direct Mode: this segment engaged in providing mechanical massage
service to customers through its massage equipment located at the POS operated by the Group itself,

Mechanical massage POS operation support services under Partner Mode: this segment engaged in
providing mechanical massage POS operation support services to Local Partners,

Others: this segment mainly engaged in sales of household massage equipment and massage accessories,
providing digital advertising service and sales of mechanical massage equipment to Local Partners.
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(i) Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
most senior executive management monitors the results attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and direct expenses incurred by those segments respectively. The measure used for reporting segment result
is gross profit which is calculated based on revenue less cost of sales for the relevant segment, No inter-segment sales
have occurred during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024
and 2025, Assistance provided by one segment to another, including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is not
measured.

The Group's other operating income and expenses, such as other net income/(loss), selling and distribution
expenses, administrative expenses, research and development expenses, finance costs, changes in the carrying amount
of the redemption liability and assets and liabilities are not measured under individual segments. Accordingly, neither
information on segment assets and liabilities nor information concerning capital expenditure, other operating income
and expenses is presented.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as
information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025 is set out below,

Year ended 31 December 2022

Mechanical
massage service
under Direct

Mechanical
massage POS
operation support
services under

Mode Pariner Mode Cthers Total
RMB'GOO RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB'000
Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition
—Overtime. . . ............. 245,166 70,963 5,861 321,990
— Pointintime. . .. .......... - - 8,164 8,164
Reportable segment revenue. . . . . . 245,166 70,963 14,025 330,154
Reportable segment profit . . . . . .. 30,319 47,650 7,366 85,335
Year ended 31 December 2023
Mechanical
Mechanteal massage POS
massage service operation support
under Direct services under
Mode Partner Mode Others Total
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

—Overtime. . .............. 472,125 95,580 9,910 577,615
— Point in time. . .. .......... - - 9,221 9,221
Reportable segment revenue. . . . .. 472,125 95,580 19,131 586,836

162,717 72,733 9,795 245,245

Reportable segment profit . . . .. ..
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Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

—Overtime. . ..............

~Pointintime. . ......... ...

Reportable segment revenue. . . . . .

Reporiable segment profit . . . . . ..

Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition
~Overtime................

Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

—Overtime. .. .............
—Pointintime. . ............

Reportable segment revenue. . . . . .

Reportable segment profit. . . . . ..

Year ended 31 December 2024

Mechanical
massage service
under Direct

Mechanical
massage POS
operation support
services under

Mode Partner Mode Others Total
RMB 600 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
668,750 114,176 4,810 787,736
- - 10,255 10,255
668,750 114,176 15,065 797,991
199,728 83,347 4,724 287,799
Eight months ended 31 Avugust 2024 (unaudited)
Mechanical
Mechanieal massage POS
massage service operation support
under Direct services under
Mode Partner Mode Others Total
RMB’000 RMB'06G0 RMB'0O00G RMB'000
466,646 78,304 3,055 548,005
- - 6,249 6,249
466,646 78,304 9,304 554,254
166,804 58,352 2,768 227,924
Eight months ended 31 Augnst 2028
Mechanical
Mechanical massage POS
massage service operation suppori
under Direct services under
Mode Pariner Mode Others Total
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'GOD
526,579 87,789 3,326 617,694
- - 13,038 13,038
526,579 87,789 16,364 630,732
159,962 64,967 5,803 230,732
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(ii)  Reconciliation of reportable segment prafit or loss

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB 060 RMB'ODO RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB'000
(ungudited)

Total reportable segment gross

profit. . . ....... ... ... 85,335 245,245 287,799 227,924 230,732
Other net income/(loss). . . . .. 200 (14,489) 518 (713) 1,159
Selling and distribution

EXPEMSES. + v v (42,749) (77,114) (113,867) (74,525) (81,407)
Administrative expenses . . . . . (18,377 (29,222) (46,066) (24,423) (28,646)
Research and development

eXPENSeS. . . . .. .. ... (8,330) (16,191) (21,497) (13,984) (14,885)
Finance costs . . ... ....... (1,329) (2,008) (3,383) (2,278) (1,322)
Changes in the carrying amount

of the redemption liability. . . (4,985) (3,007 (164) (164) -
Consolidated profit before

taxation . . ... ......... 9,765 103,214 102,304 111,837 105,631

(tif) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group'’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the location of which the services were provided or the
goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based on the physical location of

the asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets.

Revenues from external customers Specified non-current assets
Eight months ended As at
Year ended 31 December 31 Aungust As at 31 December 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025 2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'00G  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'O0G  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB000
(rnaudited)

Chinese
Mainland . . 330,154 586,836 797,991 554,254 625,017 95,033 184,880 245,226 223,851
Thailand . ... - - - - 5,691 - - - -
Others . .. ... - - - - 24 - - - 17
Total ...... 330,154 586,336 797,991 554,254 630,732 95,033 184,880 245,226 223,368
5 OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)
Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB'000 . . RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

Net fair value changes on

financial assets measured at

fair value through profit or

loss. . ... ... 673 232 96 99 115
Gain on disposal of investment

in a subsidiary . . . ... .. .. - 26 - - -
Interest income . .. ... ..... 197 1,034 300 168 180
Government granis, . . . ... .. 554 317 73 27 661
Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment © . . ... (1,171) (3,178) (1,217) {837) (591)
Tmpairment loss on property,
plant and equipment . . .. .. - (12,352) - - -
Others . .. ............. (53) (568) 230 (170) 794
200 (14,489) (518) (713) 1,159
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6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'006 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
funcudited)
(a) Finance costs
Interest on bank loans
{note 18(c)) ... .. 822 1,355 2,786 [,867 1,107
Interest on lease
liabilities
{note 18(c)) .. ... 507 653 597 411 215
1,329 2,008 3,383 2,278 1,322
Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 Augnst
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'006 RMB'000 RMB'600 RMB'000
(unaudited)
(b) Staff costs
Salaries, wages
allowances and
other benefiis in
kKind . ......... 49,997 71,792 112,133 74,934 74,453
Retirement scheme
contributions . . . . . 2,005 4,213 7492 4,318 5,343
Equity-settled share-
based payment
expenses (note 26) . 2,053 7,238 5,564 3,716 3,041
54,055 §9,243 125,189 82,968 82,837
Year ended 3 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEB'000 RMBG00 RMB'000
(unaudited}
(c) Other items
Amortisation of
intangible assets
(note 12) . ... ... 77 &7 80 53 101
Depreciation charge
(note 11)
- owned property,
plant and
equipment . . . . . 58,368 65,404 112,018 64,779 103,531
- right-of-use
assets . . ... ... 4,977 7,286 10,042 5,821 5,922

Impairment loss on

irade and other

receivables . . . . .. 2,492 1,716 2,588 1,530 1,245
Impairment loss on

property, plant and

equipment . ... .. - 12,352 - - -
Listing expenses . . . . - - 10,704 685 7,596
Cost of inventories

(note 16) . .. .. .. 17,576 24,493 24,846 16,002 17,346
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(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB'600 RMB000 RMB'060 RMB'G00
funaudited)
Current tax - PRC
Corporate Income Tax
(*PRC CIT”) and
income taxes of other
tax jurisdictions
Provision for the
year/period. . . . ... .. 3,840 18,289 15,225 17,568 18,443
(Over)/under-provision in
respect of prior years . . - 3 18 18 -
3,840 18,284 15,243 17,586 18,443
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of
temporary differences
{note 27(b)} . . . ... .. (556) (2,410) 1,254 370 (1,362)
3,284 15,874 16,497 17,956 17,081

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

™

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations of Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) in Chinese
Mainland, the Company is subject to PRC CIT at a preferential tax rate of 15% during the years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025.

Pingtan Lemo Gongchuang Investment Partnership Enterprise (LLP) (“Lemo Gongchuang™) and Pingtan
Lemo Gongying Investment Partnership Enterprise (LLP) (“Lemo Gongying”), the special purpose
vehicles to hold the ordinary shares for the Company’s employees under the employee incentive scheme
as disclosed in note 26, are not subject to CIT of Chinese Mainland.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation regulations, certain
subsidiaries of the Company were qualified as “Small Low-profit Enterprise” and enjoyed a reduced
corporate income tax raie of 20%. All of the other subsidiaries of the Company are subject to CIT at a
statutory rate of 25% during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months
ended 31 August 2024 and 2025,

According to the relevant tax rules in the Chinese Mainland, qualified research and development
cxpenses arc allowed for bonus deduction for income tax purpose, as a result, an additional 75% to
100% of the qualified research and development expenses of the Company could be deemed as
deductible expenses during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months
ended 31 August 2024 and 2025.

According to the two-tiered profits tax rate regime introduced under the Inland Revenue (Amendment}
(No. 3) Ordinance 2018 (the “Ordinance™), the first HK$2 million of assessable profits earned by a
company will be taxed at 8.25% whilst the remaining assessable profits will continue to be taxed at
16.5%. There is an anti-fragmentation measure where each group will have to nominate only one
company in the group to benefit from the progressive rates. The Ordinance was first effective from the
year of assessment 2018/2019.

Accordingly, the provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for Lemo loT International Limited for the eight
months ended 31 Augunst 2025 is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rate regime,
under which Profits Tax for the first HK$2 million of assessable profits is calculated at 8.25% while the
remaining is calculated at 16.5%.
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()

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

Profit before taxation. . . .

Notional tax on profit
before taxation,
calculated at the
applicable rates in the
jurisdictions concerned .

Tax effect of non-
deductible expenses . . .

Tax effect of additional
deduction for qualified
research and
development expenses . .

Utilisation of previously
unrecognised tax losses .

Tax effect of unused tax
losses not recognised . .

Statutory tax concession . .

Effect of change of tax
rate on deferred
tax balances . . .. ....

Tax effect of unrecognised
deductible
temporary differences . .

(Over)/under-provision in
respect of prior years . .

Others . . .. .........

Actual tax expense . . ...

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2022 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited}

9,765 103,214 102,304 111,837 105,631
2,441 25,804 25,576 27,960 26,266
3,559 5,648 3,893 2,328 2,929
(1,438) {3,680) (4,881) (3.282) (3,454)
- {100) (323) (60) (12)

281 897 682 335 178
(2,123) (13,025) (7,479 (8,828) (8,390)

- - (343) (343) -

564 335 (646) (172) -

- (5) 18 18 -
- - - - (436)

3,284 15,874 16,497 17,856 17,081

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors” and supervisors’ emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled
and Retirement sharc-based
Directors® benelits in Discretionary scheme payments
lees kind bonuses contribntions Sub-Total (note) Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
Chairman and
executive director
Mr. Xie Zhonghui . . - 538 236 8 782 242 1,024
Executive directors
Mr. Chen Xing . . .. - 382 161 5 548 - 548
Mr. Feng Baocai . . . - 376 223 4 603 - 603
Non-executive
directors
Mr. Xu Wei . ..... - - - - - - -
Mr. Li Jianzheng . . . - - - - - - -
Supervisor
Ms. Yu Xiaohong. . . - 209 16 - 225 242 467
- 1,505 636 17 2,158 484 2,642
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Chairman and
executive director
Mr. Xie Zhonghui . .
Executive directors
Mr. Chen Xing . . . .
Mr. Feng Baocai . . .
Non-executive
directors
Mr, Xu Wei . .. ...
Mr. Li Jianzheng . . .
Supervisor
Ms. Yu Xiachong. . .

Chairman and
nen-executive
director

Mr, Han Daochu
(appointed on
29 August 2024). .

Executive directors

Mr. Xie Zhonghui
(resigned as
chairman on
29 August 2024). .

Mr. Chen Xing . . . .

Mr, Feng Baocai . . .

Non-executive
directors

Mr. Li Jianzheng
(resigned on
29 August 2024}, .

Mr. Wu Jinghua
(appointed on
29 August 2024), .

Mr, Xu Wei
(resigned on
29 August 2024). .

Supervisors

Ms. Yu Xiachong. . .

Ms. Chen Xia
(appointed on
29 August 2024), .

Ms. Wang Xuezhen
(appointed on
29 Aungust 2024) . .

Year ended 31 December 2023

-yl

Salaries, . Equity-
allowances settled
and Refirement share-based
Directors® benefits in Discretionary scheme payments
lees kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note) Tolal
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'GOG RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB'060
- 553 479 8 1,040 4,294 5,334
- 471 229 5 705 - 705
- 303 394 5 904 - %04
- 257 29 2 288 242 530
- 1,786 1,131 20 2,937 4,536 7,473
Year ended 31 December 2024
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled
and Retirement share-based
Dirvectors’ benelits in Discretionary scheme payments
fees kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (nate) Total
RMB 600 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 553 44 9 606 803 1,409
- 468 376 6 850 - 850
- 502 678 6 1,186 229 1,415
- 313 100 6 419 202 621
- 37 56 6 99 67 166
- 133 31 6 170 121 291
- 2,006 1,285 39 3,330 1,422 4,752
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Chairman and
non-executive
director

Mr. Han Daochu
(appointed on
29 August 2024). .

Executive directors

Mr. Xie Zhonghui
(resigned as
chairman on
29 August 2024). .

Mr. Chen Xing . . . .

Mr. Feng Baocai . . .

Non-executive
directors

Mr, Li Jianzheng
(resigned on
29 Augusi 2024). .

Mr, Wu Jinghua
(appointed on
29 August 2024). .

Mr. Xu Wei
(resigned on
29 August 2024). .

Supervisors

Ms, Yu Xiachong. . .

Ms. Chen Xia
(appointed on
29 August 2024). .

Ms, Wang Xuezhen
(appointed on
29 August 2024). .

Chairman and
non-executive
director

Mr. Han Daohu. . . .

Executive directors

Mr. Xie Zhonghui . .

Mr. Chen Xing . . . .

Mr, Feng Baocai . . .

Non-executive
director

Mr. Wu Jinghua . . .

Supervisors

Ms. Yu Xiaohong. . .

Ms. Chen Xia. . . ..

Ms. Wang Xuezhen .

Eight months ended 31 August 2024 (unaodited)

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled
and Retirement share-hased
Directors’ benefits in Discretionary scheme payments
fees kind bonuses contributions Suh-Total (rofe) Total
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB00G RMB*000 RMBE'000
- 363 29 6 398 803 1,201
- 309 251 4 564 - 564
- 330 452 4 786 - 786
- 209 67 4 280 147 427
- 25 37 4 66 49 115
- 77 21 4 102 80 182
- 1,313 857 26 2,196 1,079 3,275
Eight months ended 31 August 2025
Salaries, Equity-
allowances setlled
and Retirement share-based
Directors’ bencfits in Discretionary scheme paymentis
fees kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note) Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RME’000 RMB'000 RMBE'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
375 - - - 375 - 375
- 511 240 7 758 - 758
- 478 120 5 603 - 603
- 549 240 5 754 578 1,372
- 259 22 5 286 - 286
- 74 6 5 g5 - 85
- 111 9 5 125 80 205
375 1,982 637 32 3,026 658 3,684
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Nore: These represent the estimated value of restricted shares granted to the directors and supervisors under the
Group’s share award scheme. The value of these share awards is measured according to the Group’s accounting
policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 2(p){ii) and, in accordance with that policy,
includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are
forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, incleding the principal terms and number of shares granted,‘ are disclosed
in note 26.

Pursuant to resolutions of sharcholders on 23 December 2024, Mr. Lei Zhigang, Ms. Dong Hui, and Mr. Suek
Ka Lun Ernie will be appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company upon listing of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and
2025, no director, chief executive or supervisor has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments and no amounts were
paid or payable by the Group to the directors, the chief executive and the supervisors as an inducement to join or npon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 3, 2, 2, 2 (unaudited) and 2 are directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 8 for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended
31 August 2024 and 2025 respectively. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other 2, 3, 3, 3 (unaudited)
and 3 individuals for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024
and 2025 are as follows: ’

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB 000
{rinaudited)
Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind . . . . .. 661 1,336 1,479 967 1,105
Discretionary bonuses . . . 440 986 1,834 1,222 905
Equity-settled share-based
payments . . .. ... ... 323 886 1,899 1,282 1,086
Retirement scheme
contributions. . .. .. .. 9 23 21 15 17
1,433 3,231 5,233 3,486 3,113

The emoluments of the 2, 3, 3, 3 (unaudited) and 3 individuals with the highest emoluments for the years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025 are within the following
bands:

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 Augunst
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Number of Number of Number of Numnber of Number of
individuals individuals individuals individuals individuals
funaudited)
Nil — HK$1,000,000 . . .. 2 1 - - 1
HK$1,000,001 ~
HK$1,500,000. ... ... - 2 - 2 1
HK$1,500,001 -
HKS$2,000,000 ...... - - 2 1 1
HK$2,000,001 —
HK$2,500,000 ...... - - 1 - -
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10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025 is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue or deemed to be in issue for the respective
year/period. The profit attributable to unvested ordinary shares held for employee incentive scheme with employees
(see note 26) and the number of such shares have been excluded from the calculation of basic earnings per share.

As described in note 28(¢), the Company converted from a limited liability company into a joint stock limited
liability company on 29 August 2024, with a registered capital of RMB50,000,000 divided into 50,000,000 shares
with a nominal value of RMBI.00 each. For the purpose of computing basic and diluted earnings per share, the
weighted average number of ordinary shares were deemed to be in issue before the Company’s conversion into a joint
stock limited liability company as if the above conversion had occurred on 1 January 2022 at the exchange ratio

established on 29 August 2024,

(i) Profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024

2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB’000

Profit for the year/period

attributable to all equity

shareholders of the

Company . ......... 6,481 87,340 85,807
Allocation of profit for

the year/peried

attributable to shares

with redemption rights

(rote 24) . ......... (782) (6,783) (361}
Allocation of profit for the

year/period attributable

to unvested shares held

for employee incentive

scheme (note 26) . . . .. (102) (1,636) (2,756}

RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudired)

93,881 88,550

(361) -

(3,032) (2,035)

Profit for the year/period
attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of -
the Company . ... ... 5,597 78,921 82,690

90,488 86,515
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(i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022

2023

2024

2024 2025

‘000

Ordinary shares deemed to

be in issue at

I Janwary. . . ... . ... 54,063
Effect of shares deemed to

be issued , . ... ... .. -
Effect of shares deemed to

be repurchased ... ... -
Effect of unvested shares

held for employee

incentive scheme

(note 26) . . .. ...... (851)
Effect of shares with

redemption rights

fnote 24) . . .. .. .. .. 6,521)

000

54,063

196

(2,501)

(969)

(4,020)

000

50,000

(1,606)

(210)

‘060 ‘000
(uraudited)

50,000 50,000

(1,6135) (1,152)

(315) -

Weighted average number
of ordinary shares at
31 December/31 August. 46,691

46,769

48,184

48,070 48,848

(b} Diluted earnings per sharc

For the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025,
the unvested ordinary shares held for employee incentive scheme with employees and the shares with redemption
rights were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive. The Company does not have other potential ordinary shares and therefore the amounts of diluted
earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share.

11  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliation of earrying amount

The Group
Properties Mfice and
leased for Massage other Motor Leasehold Construction
own use equipment equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total
RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB*000 RMB'000 RMB 000
Cost:
At ] January 2022 .. .. ... [1,149 252,158 2,143 521 5,386 5,364 276,721
Additions . . .. ... .. .. 8,040 - 716 - 2,970 28,703 40,489
Transfer from construction
in progress . .. .. ..... - 32,108 17 - - (32,125 -
Disposals . . .......... (2,962) {35,589} - - (141) - (38,692)
At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 . . ... ... 16,227 248,677 2,936 521 8,215 1,942 278,518
Additions . . .. .. ...... 16,287 - 410 13 10,590 156,626 183,926
Transfer from construction
in progress . . ... .. ... - 146,518 - - - (146,518) -
Disposals . . .......... (9,028) (59,697} (381) - (944) - (70,050)
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At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024, , ., ... ..
Additions . . . ... ... ...

Transfer from construction

inprogress . ... ... ...

Transfer to construction

in progress . . .. ......
Write off. . ... ... ... ..
Disposals . .. .........

At 31 December 2024 and

1 Jannary 2025 . . . . .. ..
Additions . . ... . .... ..

Transfer from construction

inprogress ... .......
Disposals . ...........

At 31 August 2025 . . ... ..

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1January 2022 ... ...,
Charge for the year . . . . . ..
Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 December 2022 and

| January 2023 . . . ... ..
Charge for the year. . . . . . .
Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 . . ... ...
Charge for the year . . . . . ..
Writeoff, . ...........
Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 December 2024 and

I January 2025 . . . ... ..
Charge for the period . . . . .,

Written back on disposals . .

At 31 August 2025 . ., .. ..

Impairment:

At 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 . ... .. ..

Impzirment loss recognised in

profitorloss . . ... .. ..

At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 . . . ... ..
Writeoff. . ... ........

At 3] December 2024 and

31 August 2025, . . .. ...

Net book value:

At 31 December 2022 . . . . .
At 31 December 2023 . . . ..
At 31 December 2024 . . . ..

At 31 August 2025 . . .. ...

Properties Office and
leased for Massage other Motar Leasehold Construction
own use equipment equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total
RMB 600 RMB 600 RMB’060 RMB'000 AMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000
23,486 335,498 2,965 534 17,861 12,050 392,394
4,980 - 441 5 14,791 168,602 188,819
- 176,372 - - - (176,372) -
- (5,468) - - - 5,468 -
- (17,514) - - - - (17,514)
(3,398} (51,447) (43} - (2,259 - (57,147
25,068 437,441 3,363 539 30,393 9,748 506,552
2,117 - 444 - 11,282 76,578 90,421
- 78,182 - - - (78,182) -
(11,094) (54.922) - - (2,093) - (68,109
16,091 460,701 3,807 539 39,382 8,144 528,564
{2,743) {152,024} (607) (51) (521) - (155,946)
{4,977 (55,284) (672) 9% (2,313) - (63,345)
2,234 33,073 - - 141 - 35,448
(5,486)  (174,235) (1,279) (150) (2.693) - (183,843)
(7.286) (59,402) (757) (993 (5,146) - (72,690)
5318 55,404 146 - 241 - 61,109
(7,454)  (178,233) (1,890) (249) (7,598) - (195,424)
(10,042) (101,767 (542) (102) (9,607) - (122,060)
- 5,162 - - - - 5,162
2,055 47,022 40 - 1,688 - 50,805
(15441)  (227,816) (2,392) (351) {15,517} - (261,317)
(5.922) (94,400) (319) (68) (8,738) - (109,453)
11,022 52,600 - - 2,093 - 63,715
(10,341)  (269,622) (2,711) 419 (22,162} - (305,255}
- (12,352) - - - - (12,352}
- (12,352) - - - - (12,352)
- 12,352 - - - - 12,352
10,741 74,442 1,657 KE)| 5,522 1,942 94,675
16,032 144,913 1,075 285 10,263 12,050 184,618
9,627 209,625 971 138 14,876 9,748 245,035
5,750 191,079 1,096 120 17,420 8.144 223,609
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The Company

Cost:
At 1 January 2022
Additions
Transfer from construction

in progress
Disposals

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Disposals

At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 . . . . . ...

Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Transfer to construction
in progress

Writeoff. . . ... ......

Disposals

At 31 December 2024 and
[ January 2025
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress
Disposals

At 31 August 2025

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2022

Charge for the year . . . . . .
Written back on dispasals . . .

At 31 December 2022 and
| January 2023

Charge for the year . . . . . .
Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Charge for the year . . . . . .
Write off. . . ... ... ...
Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 December 2024 and
1 January 2025
Charge for the period

Written back on disposals . . .

At 31 August 2025 . .. ..

Properties Office and
leased for Massage other Motor Leasehold Construction
own use equipment equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'O0G RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'G00
10,911 252,532 2,092 521 5,386 5,364 276,806
8,042 - 776 - 1,492 28,700 39,010
- 32,108 17 - - (32,125) -
(2,962) (35,589} - - (141) - (38,692)
15,991 249,051 2,885 521 6,737 1,939 277,124
11,028 - 351 13 5,208 156,084 172,684
- 146,471 - - - (146,471) -
(8,791) {(59.697) (381) - (241} - (69,1109
18,228 335,825 2,855 534 11,704 11,552 380,698
1,987 - 325 - 11,426 169,090 182,828
- 176,372 - - - (176,372) -
- (5,468) - - - 5,468 -
- (17,514) - - - - (17,514)
(1,961) (51,446) 43 - (553) - (54,003)
18,254 437,769 3,137 534 22,5717 9,738 492,009
917 - 375 - 7,941 76,688 85,921
- 78,769 - - - (78,769} -
(9,305} (54,922) - - (2,093) - (66,320)
9,866 461,616 3512 534 28,425 7,657 511,610
(2,703)  (152,024) (597 (51 (521) - (155,896)
(4819 (55,284) (658) (99 (2,057 - (62,917
2,234 33,073 - - 141 - 35,448
(5,288}  (174,235) (1,255) (150} {2.437) - (183,365)
(6,360) (58,821) (738) (99) (3,868) - (69,836)
5,081 55,404 146 - 241 - 60,872
(6,567)  (171,652) (1,847} (249 (6,064) - (192,379)
(7.558)  (102,374) (506} (102) (6,530) - (117,070}
- 5,162 - - - - 5,162
1,636 47,022 40 - 553 - 49,251
(12,489)  (227,842) (2,313) (351) (12,041) - (255,036}
(3,384) (94,494) (281) (68) (6,395) - (105,122}
9,233 52,600 - - 2,003 - 63,526
(7,140)  (269,736) (2,594) (419) (16,343) - (296,232}
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Properties Office and

leased for Massage other Motor Leasehold Construction
0WN use equipment equipment vehieles improvement in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB'GO0 RMB 600 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'800
Impairment:
At 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022 and
| January 2023 . ... .. .. - - - - - - -
Impairment loss recognised in
profitorless . ... ... .. - (12,352) - - - - (12,352)
At 31 December 2023 and
| Janmary 2024 . . . . .. .. - (12,352) - - - - (12,352)
Writeoff. . . .......... - 12,352 - - - - 12,352
At 31 December 2024 and
31 Angust 2025. . . . . ... - - - - . - -
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 . . . . . 10,703 74,816 1,630 371 4,300 1,939 93,759
A1 31 December 2023 . . . .. 11,661 145,821 1,608 238 5,640 11,552 173,967
At 3] December 2024 . . . . . 5,765 209,927 §24 183 10,536 9,738 236,973
At 31 August 2025 . . ... .. 2,726 191,880 918 115 12,082 7,657 215,378

As at 3] December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the Group's massage equipment with carrying
amount of nil, RMB41,251,000, RMB41,489,000 and nil were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank loans (note
22) respectively.

In the second half of 2023, the Group identified some components of certain new models of massage
equipment deployed in cinemas had quality problems, and decided to phase-ont these massage equipment for
repairment. As a result, the expected usage of these massage equipment were lower than originally budgeted. The
Group assessed the recoverable amounts of these massage equipment comprising the CGU in relation to its
mechanical massage service under Direct Mode,

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a two-year period. The key
assumniptions used in estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

2023
Expected usage during the forecast period . . . . . . .. ... ... . oo 77%-88%
Annual revenue growth rate during the forecastperiod . .. .. ... ... ... . ... 2.5%
Gross profit Margin. . . . .. . . o e e e s 36.5%
Pre-tax discount rate . . . . . . .. 00 e e e 9.8%

An impairment loss of RMB12,352,000 was recognised in “Other net income/(loss)” during the year ended
31 December 2023, As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the CGU was written down to their recoverable
amount of RMBS§,103,000, any adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amount
would result in further impairment losses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of these massage equipment was written off to the

recoverable amount and transferred from “massage equipment” to “construction in progress” when they were sent to
the Group’s own processing and repair facility for repairment.
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Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'600 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Included in “Property, plant and
equipment”:
Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost . . . . . 10,741 16,032 9,627 5,750

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023

2024 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB00

Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets by
class of underlying
asset:
Properties leased for own
7,286

RMB’000 RMB'000

(naudited)

RMB'060

10,042 5,821 5,922

Interest on lease liabilities
(note 6(a)} . . . ......
Expense relating to short-
term leases. . . . ... .. 13,888
COVID-19-related rent
concessions received . . .
Variable lease payments
not included in the
measurement of lease
liabilities . . . ... ....

653

13,674

106 230

597 411 215

17,742 12,552 16,139

591 263 501

During the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2023,
additions to right-of-use assets were RMBS8,040,000, RMB16,287,000, RMB4,980,000 and RMRB2,117,000,
respectively. This amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(d)

and 23 respectively.
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The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its POS, manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an mmal period of 1 to 5 years. Lease payments are
usually increased every | year to reflect market rentals.

The Group leased a number of POS which coniain variable lease payment terms that are based on revenue
generated from the POS and minimum annual lease payment terms that are fixed. These payment terms are common
in POS in Chinese Mainland where the Group operates, The amount of fixed and variable lease payments for the
years/periods is summarised below:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Fixed payments Variable payments Total paymenis
RMB’600 RMB'0G0 RMB* 000
POS .. . .. 2,264 106 2,370
Manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices. .. ...... ... ... ... . .. 2,329 - 2,329
4,593 106 4,699
Year ended 31 December 2023
Fixed payments Variable payments Total paymenis
RMB'GO0 RMB'060 RMB'000
POS ... . e 4,887 230 5,117
Manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices. . . ... ... . ... .. ... .. 4,074 - 4,074
8,961 230 9,191
Year ended 31 December 2024
Fixed payments ¥ariable payments Total payments
RMB'G00 RMB'00G RMB’'000
POS .. 5,569 591 6,160
Manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices. . ... .. ... . .. ... .. e, 4,956 - 4,956
10,525 591 11,116
Eight months ended 31 August 2024 (unaudited)
Fixed payments Variable payments Total payments
RMBG00 RMB'000 RMB'000
POS .. 4,027 263 4,290
Manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices. . . ... ... ... . . .. .. . . ... ... 2,622 - 2,622
6,649 263 6,912
Eight months ended 31 August 2025
Fixed payments Variable payments Total payments
RMB'G00 RMB'000 RMB'000
POS .. .. 2,975 501 3,476
Manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices. . . ... ... . . . . ... . . ... 2,597 - 2,597
‘ 5,572 501 6,073

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2024 and 2025, it is estimated that an increase in sales
generated from these POS by 5% would have increased the lease payments by RMB25,000, RMB33,000,
RMB30,000, RMB 13,000 {unaudited) and RMB25,000, respectively.
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13

14

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:
At 1 Jamuary 2022, . . .. e
Additions . . . . . e e e e e e

At 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025
Additions . . . .. o e e e e e e

Accumulated amortisation:
At I January 2022, . . o e e e
Charge forthe Year . . . . . . . o i it e e e e e

At 3] December 2022 and 1 January 2023. . ... ... ... o oL
Charge forthe year . . . . . . ..ot e e e

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024. . . . . . . ...
Charge forthe year . . . ... ...

At 31 December 2024 and 1 Janwary 2025. . . .. .. .. oo
Charge for the period. . . . . . . .. i

Ar31 August 2025 . . . L e

Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 . . . . ...

At 31 December 2023 . . . .. e
At 31 December 2024 . . . . L. e

At 31 August 2025 . . L L e

Software

RMB’000

The amortisation charge for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended
31 August 2025 is included in administrative expenses and selling and distribution expenses in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries of the Company is listed below:

As at 31 December

As at 31 Avpust

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB 600 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
Investments in subsidiaries . ... .. 4,700 10,950 12,380 12,889

Further details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note 1.
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets mainly represent prepayments for POS rentals and expenses.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

The Group

Financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss

— Wealth management products

(mote (i}) . ... ... ... .....

Financial assets measured at fair

value through other
comprehensive income

— Negotiable certificate of deposit

(rote (ii)). . . ... ... .......

The Company

Financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss

— Wealth management products

(note (i)} .. ... . . ...

Financial assets measured at fair

value through other
comprehensive income

— Negotiable certificate of deposit
(note (I}, . . ... o i

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'GOQ RMB'000 RMEB 000
20,519 15,751 - 60,097
- 10,007 13,172 -
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
20,519 15,750 - 60,097
- 10,007 10,172 -

(i)  The amount represents investments in wealth management products issued by reputable financial
institutions in Chinese Mainland. There are no fixed or determinable returns of these wealth

management products,

(iiy  Annual interest rate of negotiable certificate of deposit held by the Group as at 31 December 2023 and
2024 is 2.85% and 2.60% with maturity date of December 2026 and May 2026 respectively.

INYENTORIES

The Group

Inventories

Raw materials . .............
Work in progress . . .. ... ... ..
Finished goods. . . . .. ... .....
Goodsintransit . . .. .........

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'060 RME'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
4,845 5,159 4,746 8,265
21 18 - 5
447 953 779 928
08 68 46 440
5,411 6,198 5,571 9,638
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The Company

As at 31 December As at 31 Aupust
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'600 RMB'060 RMB’600 RMB'008
Inventories
Raw materials . ... .. e e e 3,299 3,765 3,544 4,494
Work in progress . .. ... ...... 21 18 - -~
Finished goods. . . . .. ... ...., 447 952 131 173
Goodsintransit . . ... ... ..... 98 64 15 ~*
3,865 4,799 3,690 4,667

* This amount is less than RMB500.

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss is as

Jollows:

17
(=)

Year ended 31 Decernber Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'00% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Carrying amount of

inventories sold . . . . .. . 5,639 6,171 7,488 4,479 9,306
Carrying amount of

inventories recognised as

research and

development expenses . . 576 1,281 3,321 2,344 941
Carrying amount of

inventories recognised as

selling and distribution

EXpenses . . ... .. ... 8,520 12,807 10,332 7,751 5,371
Carrying amount of

inventories consumed as

costof sales . . ... ... 2,640 4,193 3,581 1,415 1,740
Write-down/(reversal of

write-down} of

inventories . . .. ... .. 201 41 124 13 (12)

17,576 24,493 24,846 16,002 17,346

TRADE RECEIVABLES, CTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade and other receivables

The Group
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Non-current
Trade receivables, net of loss
allowance
—third parties . . ... ......... - - - 3,448
Current
Trade receivables, net of loss
allowance
—third parties . .. ......... .. 2,330 [,346 943 3,552
—related parties . . . . ..., ... .. - - . - 466
Deposits (rote (i), . . . ........ 26,809 40,787 52,950 58,391
VAT recoverable. . . .......... 12,827 12,001 16,143 18,123
Other receivables . .. ...... ... 4,939 9,460 5,427 8,312
46,905 63,594 75,463 92,292
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The Company

As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'600
Current
Trade receivables, net of loss
allowance
—third parties . ... .......... 2,229 1,346 219 1,550
—related parties . ... ... ... ... - - - 459
Deposits (nete (I)). ... ... ..... 26,735 28,502 29,826 26,637
VAT recoverable. . . .. ........ 12,802 11,997 15,869 17,724
Other receivables . . .. ... ..... 4,839 8,584 3,563 5,527
46,605 50,429 50,177 51,897

(i)  Deposits mainly include the deposits paid to the site owners of POS which is refundable upon
termination of the cccupancy agreement.

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, deposits of RMB2(,078,000, RMB26,140,000,
RMB28,780,000 and RMB29,152,000 of the Group were expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after
more than one year, All of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense
within one year.

Ageing analysis

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the ageing analysis of trade receivable (which
are included in trade and other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

The Group
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB060 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
Current (not past due) . . ....... [,215 897 919 7,402
Less than 3 months past due . . . .. 10 28 2 35
More than 3 months but less than
1 year pastdue .. .......... 1,025 375 21 27
Past dueover 1 year . ... ...... 80 46 1 2
2,330 1,346 943 7,466
The Company
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB"000 RMB'000
Current {(not past due) . ........ 1,114 897 895 1,963
Less than 3 months past due . . . . . 10 28 2 17
More than 3 months but less than
1 year pastdue . . . ........ . 1,025 375 21 27
Pastdue over 1 year . .. .. ... .. 20 46 i 2
2,229 1,346 919 2,009

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing, Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 29(a).
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(a)

Prepayment

The Group

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB060
Prepayments for:
—occupancy fee of POS . . .. . . .. 38,576 74,799 94,761 93,746
—others . . ....... ... ..., 881 1,429 5,077 7,168
39,457 76,228 99,838 100,914
The Company
As at 31 December As al 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'060
Prepayments for:
— occupancy fee of POS . . .. .. .. 38,424 51,360 45,981 41,986
~others . . ............. ... 881 1,127 4,143 6,344
39,305 52,487 50,124 48,330

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash and cash equivalents comprise;

The Group

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'00¢ RMB'000 RME'060 RMB'000
Cash at bank and on hand. . . .. .. 38,580 36,624 17,471 45,019
Cash balances with payment
platforms . . . ... ... ... . ... 4,631 2,267 2,213 1,675
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . . ., 43,211 38,891 19,684 46,694
The Company
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2028
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEB000 RMB000
Cash at bank and on hand . . . . . .. 33,171 30,662 10,122 26,251
Cash balances with payment
platforms . . . .......... ... 4,482 2,100 1,939 1,284
Cash and cash equivalents. . . . . .. 37,653 32,762 12,061 27,535

Cash balances with payment platforms represents cash balances kept with thlird party payment platforms,
which can be withdrawn on demand.

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, all cash and cash equivalents were situated in Chinese Mainland. As
at 31 August 2025, cash and cash equivalents situated in Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB40,755,000. Remittance
of funds out of Chinese Mainland is subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control.

52



(b} Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB 600 RMB'050 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Profit before taxation .. ... .. 0,765 103,214 102,304 111,837 105,631
Adjustments for:

Depreciation . . ., . ...... B(c) 63,345 72,650 122,060 70,600 109,453
Amortisation of intangible

ASSELS . . . . ... 6(c) 77 87 80 53 101
Finance costs. . ... ...... 6la) 1,329 2,008 3,383 2,278 1,322
Changes in the carrying

amount of the redemption

lability . . .. ... ...... 18(c) 4,985 3,007 164 164 -
Interest income. .., ..., .. 5 {197) {1,034) (300) (168) {180)
Write-down/(reversal of

write-down) of inventories . 16 201 4] 124 13 (12)
Loss on dispesal of property,

plant and equipment . . . . . 5 1,171 3,178 1,217 837 591
Net fair value changes on

financial assets measured

at fair value through profit

orloss. ............. 5 (673) (232) (96) 99 (115)
Gain on disposal of

investment in a subsidiary . 5 - (26) - - -
Equity-settled share-based

payment expenses. . . . . . . 6(h) . 2,053 7,238 5,564 3,716 3,041
Impairment loss on trade and

other receivables . . ... .. 6(c) 2,492 1,716 2,588 1,530 1,245
Impairment loss on property,

plant and equipment . . . . . 6{c) - 12,352 - - -
COVID-19-related rent

concessions received . . . . . 11(b) (88) - - - -
Foreign exchange loss . . . .. - - - - 36
Others . . ............. - )] (222) 4 (6)

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in
inventories . . .. ....... 1,633 (828) 503 (3,036) (4,055)
Increase in trade and other
receivables and

prepayments . . .. ... ... (2,933) (55,298) (35,583) (25,610) (17.408)
Increase in other non-current

assets . . ... ... . ..... (5,416) (917) {7,269) (328) (307}
Increase/(decrease) in trade

and other payables . ... .. 9,162 27,575 21,888 27,963 (104)
Increase/(decrease) in contract

liabilities . . . . ... ... .. 1,324 1,568 (2,637) (402) 88
(Decrease)increase in other

current liabilities . . . . . ., (1,090) 67 4 5 —*

Cash generated from
operaticns . .......... 87,14¢ 176,399 213,772 189,349 199,321

* This amount is less than RMB500.
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{c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes, Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 Januvary 2022, ... .......
Changes from financing cash

flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans . . . .
Repayment of bank leans . . ... ..
Capital element of lease

rentals paid . . .. ... .......
Interest element of lease

rentals paid . ... ... ..... ..
Interest paid . . . ... .........

Total changes from financing
cashflows . .. ............

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during
theyear. ... .............

Decrease in lease liabilities from
termination of lease contracts . . .

COVID-19-related rent concessions
received (note 11(b)). . . ... ...

Changes in the carrying amount of
the redemption liability . . ... ..

Interest expenses (note 6(a)) . . ...

Total other changes . . .. ... ....

At 31 December 2022 . ... ... ..

At 1 January 2023...........
Changes from financing cash
flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans . . . .
Repayment of bank loans . ... ...
Partial settlement of the redemption
liability . . . ... .0
Capital etement of lease
rentals paid . .............
Interest element of lease
rentals paid ............ ..
Interestpaid . . ... ........ ...

Total changes from financing
cash flows . . .............

Redemption

Bank loans Lease liabilities liability Total
RMB'GO0 RMB'060 RMB'O00 RMB'000
(Note 22) (Nate 23) {Note 24}

20,029 8,282 70,077 98,388
21,250 - - 21,250
(23,000) - - {23,000

- 4,031) - (4,031)
- (507) - (507)
(830) - - (830)
______ 2.580)  (4,538) - (7.118)
- 7,992 - 7,992
- (677) - (677)
- (88) - (88)
- - 4,985 4,985
822 507 - [,329
822 7,734 4,985 13,541
18,271 11,478 75,062 104,811
Redemption

Bank leans Lease liabilities Tiability Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{Nore 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)

18,271 11,478 75,062 104,811
69,760 - - 69,760
(31,854) - - (31,854)

- - (62,060) (62,060)
- (7,466) - (7,460)
- (653) - (653)
(1,410) - - (1,410)
36,496 {§,119) (62,060) (33,683)
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Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during
theyear. .. ........ ... ...
Decrease in lease liabilities from
termination of lease contracts . . .
Changes in the carrying amount of
the redemption liability . . ... ..
Interest expenses (nete 6fa))

Total other changes . . . .. ... ...

At 31 December 2023 . . ... .. ..

At 1 Januwary 2024 . .. .. ... ...
Changes from financing cash
flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans . . . .
Repayment of bank loans
Capital element of lease
rentals paid
Interest element of lease
rentals paid
Interest paid

Total changes from financing
cashflows . .. ............

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during
theyear. .. ..............

Pecrease in lease liabilities from
termination of lease contracts . . .

Changes in the carrying amount of
the redemption liability . . . . . ..

Interesi expenses (note 6{a))

Cancellation of the redemption
liability (note 24}, . . . . ... ...

Total other changes . . .. .......

At 31 December 2024 , . ., ... ..

Redemption

Bank loans Lease liabilities Hability Tolal
RME'000 RMB 0G0 RMB'000 RMB'000
{Nore 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)

- 16,139 - 16,139

- (3,997) - (3,997

- - 3,007 3,007

1,355 653 - 2,008

1,355 12,795 3,007 17,157

56,122 16,154 16,009 88,285
Redemption

Bank loans Lease liabilities liahility Tetal
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'006 RMB'000
(Note 22} (Note 23) [Note 24)

56,122 16,154 16,009 88,285
32,780 - - 52,780
(53,952) - - (53.952)

- (9,983) - (9,983)
- (597) - (597
(2,863) - - (2,863)
(4,035) (10,580) - (14,615)
- 4,280 - 4,280
- (1,449} - (1,449)
- - 164 164
2,786 597 - 3,383
- - (16,173) (16,173)
2,786 3,428 (16,009) (9,795)
54,873 9,002 - 63,875




Redemption |

{unaudited) Bank loans Lease liabilities liahility Total
RMB'000 RMB’600 RMB’000 RMB'000
{Nore 22) {Note 23) (Note 24)
At 1 January 2024 . .......... 56,122 16,154 16,009 88,285
Changes from financing cash
flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans . . . . 42,880 - - 42,880
Repayment of bank loans . ... ... (34,060) - - (34,060)
Capital element of lease rentals
paid . . ... .. ... o - (6,171) - (6,171)
Interest element of lease rentals
paid . . ... ... ... - 41D - LD
Interest paid . .. ............ {1,748) - - (1,748)

Total changes from financing cash
flows . ........ .. ... .... 7,072 (6,582) - 490

Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during

the period . ... ... ... - 2,169 - 2,169
Decrease in lease liabilities from
termination of lease contracts . . . - (1,134) - (1,134)
Changes in the carrying amount of
the redemption liability . . . . ... - - 164 164
Interest expenses (nofe 6(a)) . . ... 1,867 411 - 2,278
Cancellation of the redemption
liability (note 24). . ... ... ... - - (16,173) (16,173)
Total other changes . . ... ... ... 1,867 1,446 (16,009) (12,696)
At 31 August 2024 . . . . ..., ., 65,061 11,018 - 76,079
Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
RMB'000 RMBO00 RMB'000
{Nore 22) (Note 23}
At 1 Janwary 2025 . . . . ... L L 54,873 9,002 63,875
Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans . . . . .. ..., .. 54,500 - 54,500
Repayment of bank loans . . ......... .. .. (54,825} - (54,825)
Capital element of lease rentals paid , . . ... .. - (5,357 (5,357
Interest element of lease rentals paid ., . . .. ... —~ (215) (215)
Interestpaid . . ........... ... ... .... (1,123} - (1,123)
Total changes from financing cash flows. .. ... (1,448) (5,572) (7,020)

Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into

new leases during the period. . . . ... ... .. - 2,116 2,116
Decrease in lease liabilities from termination of

lease contracts. . . . ... ... ... ... ... - (76) (76)
Interest expenses (note 6(a))} . . . ... ... .... 1,107 215 1,322
Total other changes . . .. .. ............. 1,107 2,255 3,362
At 31 August 2025 . ... . ... ... 54,532 5,685 60,217
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(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statements for leases comprise the following, which are
related to lease rentals paid:

Year ended 31 December Eight months ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB 003 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'600 RMB'600
{unaudited)
Within operating cash flows . . . 13,888 13,674 17,742 12,552 16,139
Within financing cash flows . . . 4,538 8,119 10,580 6,582 5,572
18,426 21,793 28,322 19,134 21,711

19  AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES
The Company

Amounts due from subsidiaries of RMB4,104,000, RMB31,139,000, RMB39,999,000 and RMB3,438,000 as
at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 respectively, were non-trade in nature, and were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand, The remaining amounts due from subsidiaries of RMB237,000, RMB685,000,
RMB 1,497,000 and RMB42,689,000 as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 respectively, were
trade in nature and were expected to be settled within one year.

Amounts due to subsidiaries of RMB2,272,000, RMB755,000, RMB9,612,000 and RMB5,652,000 as at 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 respectively, were trade in nature and were repayable on demand.
The remaining amounts due to subsidiaries of nil, nil, RMB218,000 and RMB1,178,000 as at 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 and 31 Aungust 2025 respectively, were non-trade in nature, and were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand,

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade payables. . . ... ........ 22,492 63,086 74,812 62,752
Receipis in advance. . . ... ... .. 23,166 27,670 29,663 31,704
Deposits (note (i), . . ... ... ... 5,861 5,628 5,267 5,097
Salary and welfare payables. . . . .. 10,054 21,118 30,857 25,611
Dividends payable to equity
shareholders . . . . ... ....... — 20,000 12 -
Other payables and accruals. . . . . . 6,998 12,516 19,293 15,826
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost. . . . ... ... ... 68,571 150,018 159,904 140,990
Other tax payables .. ......... 1,181 2,166 1,967 2,921
69,752 152,184 161,871 143,911
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The Company

Trade payables . . ... .........
Receipts in advance. . . . ... ....
Deposits (note (i}). . . ... ... ...
Salary and welfare payables. . . . . .
Dividends payable to equity
shareholders . . . . ... .. .....
Other payables and accruals. . ., . . .

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost. . ... ... .....
Other tax payables . . .........

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB060 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
21,469 58,902 67,543 47,461
23,157 27,626 29,624 31,662
5,861 5,628 5,105 5,038
9,560 11,202 13,040 9,557
- 20,000 - -
6,933 11,170 16,915 14,275
67,010 134,528 132,227 107,993
962 1,111 1,295 1,171
67,972 135,639 133,522 109,164

(i) Deposits mainly represent deposits paid by Local Partners, which is refundable upon termination of the

cooperation agreement,

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income wiihin one year or are payable

on demand,

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables (which are included in trade and
other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

The Group

Within 3 months. .. .. .. ... ...
QOver 3 months but within 6 months .
Over 6 months but within 9 months .
Over 9 months but within 1 year. . .
Overlyear................

The Company

Within 3 months. . . .. ........
Over 3 months but within 6 months .
Over 6 months but within ¢ months .
Over 9 months but within 1 year. . .
Over lyear. ... ............

As at 31 December

As at 31 Aupust

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB*600 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
11,846 47,050 55,549 45,975
3,187 4,294 4,977 2,912
1,881 2,313 341 1,903
1,138 3,229 1,743 2,699
4,440 6,200 12,202 9,263
22,492 63,086 74,812 62,752
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB*000 RMEB'000
11,012 44,328 51,437 34,454
3,184 4,118 2,646 1,552
1,881 2,221 257 94]
1,137 3,222 1,584 1,774
4,255 5,013 11,619 8,740
21,469 58,902 67,543 47,461
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21  CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group and the Company

As al 31 December As at 31 Aupust
2022 2023 2024 2025
RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Receipts in advance# . . . . ... ... 350 1,454 1,498 1,610
Unredeemed credits . . . . ... .... 2,121 2,583 - -
Others . . ... .............. 205 207 109 85
2,676 4,244 1,607 1,695

# This mainly represents the advance payments (exclude output VAT) from customers, for which the

underlying services are yet to be provided. The output VAT contained in the advance payments has been
classified under other current liabilities.

Movement in contract liabilities

The Group and the Company

Eight months

Year ended 31 December ended 31 Angust
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'G0G RMB'GOD
Balance at 1 Janvary . .. ... ........ 1,352 2,676 4,244 1,607

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result

of recognising revenue during the

year/period that was included in the

contract liabilities at the beginning of

the yearfperiod . . . ............. (1,294) (2,558) (4,129) (1,414)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result

of receiving advances from customers

during the year/period. . ., ... ... .. 2,618 4,126 1,492 1,502

Balance at 31 December/31 August . . . . . 2,676 4,244 1,607 1,695

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the amount of contract liabilities expected to
be recognised as income after one year or more is RMB118,000, RMB929,000, RMB38,000 and RMB23,000
respectively. All of the other contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

22 BANK LOANS

The Group
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB"000 RME'000 RMB000 RMB'060

Short-term bank loans
- unsecured and guaranteed . . . . 15,250 35,040 32,834 -
— unsecured and unguaranteed . . . 3,021 - - 54,532
— secured and guaranteed . . . . . . - 7,385 10,641 -
18,271 42,425 43,475 54,532

Long-term bank loans
— secured and guaranteed . . . . . . - 13,697 11,398 -
18,271 56,122 54,873 54,532
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The Company

As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMEB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Short-term bank loans
— unsecured and gnaranteed . . .. 15,250 35,040 29,831 -
— unsecured and ungnaranteed . . . 1,721 - - 54,532
— secured and guaranteed . . . . . . - 7,385 10,641 -
16,971 42,425 40,472 54,532

Long-term bank loans
— secured and guaranteed . . . . . . - 13,697 11,398 -
16,971 56,122 51,870 54,532

Bank loans bear interest ranging from 3.95% to 4.95% per annum, 4.00% to 4.85% per annum, 2.60% to 4.85%
per annum and 1.50% to 2.50% per annum as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 20235, respectively,

Several bank loans of the Group are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the Company
or the Group’s subsidiaries’ financial metrics. If the Group was to breach the covenants, the related loans would
become repayable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants., Further details of
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 29(b). As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31
August 2025, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached,

(a) Assets pledged as security for bank loans

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, bank loans of nil, RMB21,082,000,
RMB22,039,000 and nil of the Group were secured by property, plant and equipment of the Group with carrying
amount of nil, RMB41,251,000, RMB41,48%9,000 and nil {note 11(a)).

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, bank loans of RMB15,250,000,
RMB56,122,000, RMB54,873,000 and nil of the Group were guaranteed by one of the controlling shareholders (note
31(d)) and his affiliated individual.

(b} The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is as follows:

The Group

As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'GO0 RMB'000 RMB'G00 RMB'080

Within 1 year or on demand . . ... 18,271 42,425 43,475 54,532
After 1 year but within 2 years. . . . - 7,287 9,737 -
After 2 years but within 5 years . . . - 6,410 1,661 -
- 13,697 11,398 -
18,271 56,122 54,873 54,532
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The Company

Within 1 year or on demand

After | year but within 2 years. . . .
After 2 years but within 5 years . . .

LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
16,971 42,425 40,472 54,532
- 7.287 9,737 -
- 6,410 1,661 -
- 13,697 11,398 -
16,971 56,122 51,870 54,532

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

The Group

Within 1 year. . . ... .........

After 1 year but within 2 years. . . .
After 2 years but within 5 years . . .

The Company

Within | year. ... ... ... ... ..

After 1 year but within 2 years, , , .
After 2 years but within 5 years . . .

As at 31 December

As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
4,682 8,426 6,083 3,878
2,780 4,832 2,338 1,661
4,016 2,896 581 146
6,796 7,728 2,919 1,807
11,478 16,154 9,002 5,685
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB 000
4,641 6,852 4,086 2,012
2,780 3,581 1,266 569
4,016 1,471 144 98
6,796 5,052 1,410 667
11,437 11,504 5,496 2,679
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24 REDEMPTION LIABILITY

In December 2017, Ma’anshan Cornerstone Yixiang Egquity Investment Parinership Enterprise (LLP)
(“Cornerstone Yixiang”) entered into a capital increase agreement (“the Capital Increase Agreement”) with the
Company to subscribe for approximately RMB1,428,571 paid-in capital in the Company at the consideration of
RMB50.0 million, which was fully settled in December 2017. As a result, Cornerstone Yixiang had an equity interest
of 12.5% in the Company with preferential rights.

In addition to voting rights and dividend rights which are cthe same for all shareholders of the Company, certain
key preferential rights granted to Cornerstone Yixiang stipulated under the Capital Increase Agreement are
summarised as follows:

Cornerstone Yixiang has a right to require the Company and/or its founding shareholders to purchase all of the
paid-in capital in the Company held under the Capital Increase Agreement upon the occurrence of certain events
including but not limited to (i) its failure to consummate a qualified IPO within five years from the date of closing,
or (ii} the total equity interest of the Company held by its founding shareholders is less than 30%, The redemption
price shall be the higher of the following: (i) the censideration paid by Cornerstene Yixiang plus a simple interest
of 10% per annum for the period from the payment date of the consideration up to the redemption date; or (ii) a
pro-rata share of the Company’s latest audited book net assets at that time,

In addition, upon the oceurrence of a liquidation of the Company before a qualified IPO, Cornerstone Yixiang
is entitled to receive, prior and in preference in any distribution of assets of the Company to other sharecholders, an
amount equal to the consideration paid plus a simple interest of 10% per annum for the period from the payment date
of the consideration up to the liquidation date. Any remaining net assets of the Company are distributed amongst all
shareholders rateably.

The redemption liability is classified as a current liability as explained in note 2(n).

In April 2023, Cornerstone Yixiang entered into a repurchase agreement (“the Repurchase Agreement”) with
the Company to require the Company to repurchase RMB 1,142,857 paid-in capital of the Company held by way of
capital reduction. The consideration was RMB62,060,000 which was determined pursuant to the redemption price as
set out in the Capital Increase Agreement and was fully settled in 2023. According to the Repurchase Agreement,
Cornerstone Yixiang and the Company extended the due date of the gqualified IPO for three years.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the carrying amounts of redemption liability of RMB75,062,000 and
RMB16,009,000 are calculated based on the higher of the consideration paid plus an interest of [0% per annum or
the pro-rata share of the Company’s net assets at that date.

On 28 February 2024, Cornerstone Yixiang waived all preferential rights stipulated under the Capital Increase
Agreement and the Repurchase Agreement. As a result, the Company derecognised the redemption liability and
included its carrying amount in equity.

The movements of the redemption liability of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 Aungust 2024 are set out in note 18(c).

25 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution retirement plan

As stipulated by the regulations of the Chinese Mainland, the Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement plans organised by municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group is
required to make contributions to the retirement plans based on certain percentage of the salaries, bonuses and certain
allowances of the employees. A member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a fixed proportion of the salary
prevailing at the member’s retirement date. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with these plans beyond the contributions described above.
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26 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted employee incentive schemes on 1 December 2021 (the “Employee Incentive Scheme
20217) and 8 September 2023 (the “Employee Incentive Scheme 2023™), respectively, The purpose of the employee
incentive schemes is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their past and future contributions
to the Group. In connection with the Employee Incentive Scheme 2021 and Employee Incentive Scheme 2023, Lemo
Gongchuang and Lemo Gongying were established in Chinese Mainland respectively as the employee incentive
vehicles to respectively subscribe RMB415,804 and RMB252,741 registered capital of the Company. Eligible
participants as approved by the Company were granted the equity interests in the form of registered capital of the
Company through holding the limited partnership interests in Lemo Gongchuang or Lemo Gongying (referred to as
“Restricted Equity Interests”). The employee incentive vehicles are treated as the subsidiaries of the Company
because their relevant activities are directed by the Company so as 1o suit the Group’s obligations in relation to the
employee incentive schemes,

On 29 August 2024, the Company was converted into a joint stock limited liability company (note 28(c)(i)),
and therefeore, the total registered capital of the Company, amounting to RMB668,545, indirectly granted to the
eligible participants of the employee incentive schemes were converted into 3,051,530 restricted shares of the
Company on the same terms and conditions without a change in the underlying economic interests,

(a) Details of terms and conditions of the respective Restricted Equity Interests granted:
Employee Incentive Scheme 2021

On 1 December 2021, 29 July 2022 and 7 June 2024, certain directors of the Company were granted the
Restricted Equity Interests in the form of the Company’s registered capital of RMB226,139, RMB7,295 and
RME 14,520, respectively, at a subscription price of RMBS.4 per cach registered capital. These share awards were
vested immediately at the corresponding dates of grant.

On [ December 2021, 16 employees of the Company were granted the Restricted Equity Interests in the form
of the Company’s registered capital of RMB 189,665 at a subscription price of RMB8.4 per each registered capital,
which would be vested on the completion of the required service period of 36 months from the date of grant, subject
to the employee’s annual performance evaluation each year. On 1 December 2024, 765,821 nnvested shares pursuant
to the Employee Incentive Scheme 2021 were vested at the date of 36 months from the date of grant. The Company
has the right to repurchase the Restricted Equity Interests at the original subscription price if the service requirement
is not satisfied. As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the deposit liabilitics recognised under
the Employee Incentive Scheme 2021 were RMB1,532,000, RMB 1,532,000, nil and nil respectively,

The directors and employees are only allowed to transfer their vested Restricted Equity Interests to the other
eligible participants of the Employee Incentive Scheme 2021. If the employees’ services are terminated before initial
public offering ("IPO™), the employees are required to surrender the share award at a specified price or transfer it
to ather eligible participants. This transfer restriction will be released after three years upon completion of the 1PO.

Employee Incentive Scheme 2023

On 8 September 2023, one director of the Company was granted the Restricted Equity Interests in the form
of the Company’s registered capital of RMB76,163 at a subscription price of RMB10.58 per each registered capital.
Further, on 31 August 2024, the same director of the Company was granted the Restricted Equity Interests in the form
of 28,308 Company’s shares at a subscription price of RMBZ2.32 per share. The share awards granted to the directors
were vested immediately at the corresponding dates of grant.
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On 8 September 2023, 12 employees of the Company were granted the Restricted Equity Interests in the form
of the Company’s registered capital of RMB176,578 at a subscription price of RMB10.58 per each registered capital,
which would vest on the completion of the required service period of 36 months from the date of grant or the end
of the A-share IPO lock-up period as mandated by stock exchanges in Chinese Mainland, whichever is later, and it
is subject to the employee’s annual performance evaluation each year. On 14 December 2023, the Group modified
the share awards granted to the employees to remove the requirement of the occurrence of A-share IPO during the
vesting period. From the date of the modification, the Group would take into account the revised vesting condition
and recognises the grant-date fair value during the revised vesting period with adjusting the recognised share-based
payment cost in the period of the modification to the amount that would have been recognised if the revised vesting
conditions had always existed.

On 26 September 2024, 1 director and 4 employees of the Company were granted the Restricted Equity
Interests in the form of the Company's shares at a subscription price of RMB4.09 per share. These share awards
would vest on the completion of the required service pericd of 36 months from the date of grant, subject {o the
employee's annual performance evaluation each year,

The Company has the right to repurchase the share awards at the original subscription price if the service
reguirement is not satisfied. As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the deposit liabilities
recognised under Employee Incentive Scheme 2023 were nil, RMB1,868,000, RMB3,334,000 and RMB3,334,000
respectively.

(b) Movements in numbers and weighted average fair value of the Restricted Equity Interests granted to
directors and ecmployees of the Company are as follows:

2022 2023 2024 2025
Weighled Weighled Welghted
average average average
fair value Faje value fair value  Weighted Weighted
Amount of per RMB1  Amount of per RMBI  Amount of per RMBI  average average
registered  repistered  registered  registered  registered Number of reglstered  fair value Number of  [fair value
capital capital capital capital capital shares capital per share shares per share
RMB RMB RMB RMB EMB RMB RMB EMB
Asat 1 January . . . 415,804 38.64 415,804 38.64 668,545 - 49.34 N/A 3,420,653 12.22
Granted and
subscribed during
the year/period . . 1,295 38.64 252,741 66.95 14,590 404,431 66.95 14.98 - NIA
Forfeited during
the year/period . . (7,295) 38.64 - NIA - (14,590) (29,308) 66.96 14.67 - N/A
Effect of conversion
to a joint stock
limited liability
company . .. .. - NIA - NfA  (068,545) 3,051,530 N/A N/A - N/A
As at
31 December/
31 August. .. .. 415,804 38.64 668,545 49.34 - 3,426,653 N/A 12.22 3,426,653 12.22

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the unvested registered capital under Employee Incentive Scheme 2021 and
Employee Incentive Scheme 2023 were RMB182,370 and RMB358,948 respectively, As at 31 December 2024 and
31 August 2023, the unvested shares under Employee Incentive Scheme 2023 were 1,151,795 shares.
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(¢)  Fair value of the share awards and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for the Restricted Equity Interests granted is measured by
reference to the fair value of Restricted Equity Interests granted at the corresponding dates of grant. No adjustment
is required for expected dividends as the directors and employees are entitled to receive dividends paid during the
vesting period. Except for those ordinary shares granted on 26 September 2024, whose fair value is measured with
reference to the issuance price of a recent transaction of the Company’s fundraising activity, discounted cash flow
method was used to determine the underlying equity fair value of the Company with following key assumptions at
the respective dates of share grant:

Employee Incentive Employce Incentive
Seheme 2021 Scheme 2023
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year
forecast period
* | December 2021 and 29 July 2022 . . ... ... ...... -4.25%-76.21%
+ 8 September 2023 and 31 August 2024 .. .. ... ... .. 2.82%-27.96%
« 7T June 2024 . L e 2.82%-27.96%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond the
five-year period
* | December 2021 and 29 July 2022 . ... ... ..... .. 2.50%
+ 8 September 2023 and 31 August 2024 . ... ... ... .. 4.88%
«TIune 2024 . L e 4.88%
Gross profit margin during five-year forecast period
* | December 2021 and 29 July 2022 ... ... ..... ... 28.99%-46.04%
* 8 September 2023 and 31 August 2024 . . ... ... .. .. 34.90%-38.78%
s TIune 2024 e e 34,90%-38.78%
Weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”)
e 1 December 2021 and 29 July 2022 . ... .......... 11.50%
« 8 September 2023 and 31 August 2024 ... ......... 10.30%
s 7June 2024 . ... 10.30%
Discount for lack of marketability (“DLOM™)
« 1 December 2021 and 29 July 2022 ... ... ..... ... 26.46%
* 8 September 2023 and 31 August 2024 .. ... ... . ... 15.56%
«7June 2024 .. L 15.56%

27 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statements of financial position represents;

The Group
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB 600

Current tax assets:
PRC CIT recoverable . ........ - - 2,180 -
Current tax liabilities:
PRC CIT payable . . ... ....... 2,951 9,116 5,210 12,442
Hoeng Kong Profits Tax payable . . . - - - 164

2,951 9,116 5,210 12,606
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(b} Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred tux assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated statements of financial

position and the movements during the year/period are as follows:

Impairment
Tnss on Depreciation
Weite- properly,  Unrealised on properly,
Credit loss  down of plant and  nier-groop Accumulated Right-ol- Lease plant and
aliowance  loventories  equipment profit 1ax losses Actruals use assets  liabilitles  equipment (bers Tolal
RME'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RME'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Deferred fax arising
from:
AL Janvary 2022, . ., {1,313 - - (220 - {253) 1.0 {1,214 - - {1,736)
(Credited)charged (o profil
orloss . .. ... . (M) (28 - 9 - (109) 13 (303 - - (556)
At M December 2022 ané
| Janwary 2023 . . . . (LE64) {28) - 1129 - (362) 1,608 (1717 - - (2,293}
Chargedf{credited) 1o profiit
orloss . .. ... 1l | (1833 {109) (96} (1) 360 280 - - (2410)
At 31 December 2003 and
| Jamiary 204 . . . . {1393 mn {1855) (229} (36) (1,073) 1,366 (1,998) - - {4703)
{Credited)fcharged ta
profitorloss. . . . . {414 (19} 1,853 8 46 (1,1%8) (503) 043 643 - 1,254
At 31 December 2024 and
| Jamary 2025 . . . . {1307) {46} - {151) - 2,197 1,463 (1,359 845 - (3.448)
Chargedf{eredited) to
pofitorloss. . . . . 40 | - 35) - (622) (524} {63 (645) {40) {1,36))
At3] August 2025 . . . {1,767) (45) - {156} - (2819 9 {892) - {40} 4810
(ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of financial position
As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2028
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'G00 RMB'000
Net deferred tax asset in the
consolidated statements of
financial position. . . .. ... ... (2,292) (4,702) (3,448) (4,310)

(¢}  Deferred tax asseis not recognised

In accordance with the accounting pelicy set out in note 2(g), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB1,122,000, RMB4,308,000, RMB5,452,000 and RMB6,030,000 as at 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 respectively as it is not probable that futurc taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses

expire within 5 years under current tax legislaiion.
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28

(a)

Movements in components of equity

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity are set out below:

The Company

Balance at 1 January

Changes in cquity
for 2022;

Profit and total
comprehensive
income for the year .

Equity-seitled share-
based transactions . .

Appropriation to
statutory reserve . . .

Balance at
31 December 2022, |

Balance at 1 January

Changes in equity
for 2023:

Profit and total
comprehensive
income for the year .

Partial settlement of the
redemption liability .

Equity-settled share-
based transactions . .

Appropriation to
statutory reserve . . .

Dividends declared to
equity shareholders. .

Capital contribution
from a shareholder . .

Balance at
31 December 2023. .

Note

26

28(d)(if1)

MNote

24
26
28(d)(iii)

28(b)

Equity
interests
held for Share-
employee based
Paid-in Capital incentive payment Statutory Retained
capital reserve scheme reserve reserve profits Total
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'060 RMB'0G0 RMB'000 RMBG00 RMB000
11,844 41,375 (1,593) 159 2,190 14,453 68,428
- - - - - 7,863 7,863
- 221 61 1,832 - - 2,114
- - - - 882 (882) -
11,844 41,596 (1,532) 1,991 3,072 21,434 78,405
Equity
interests
held for Share-
employee Dhased
Paid-in Capital incentive payment Statutory Retained
capital reserye scheme reserve reserve profits Total
RMB'060 RMB'00C RMB'060 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
11,844 41,596 (1,532) 1,991 3,072 21,434 78,405
- - - - - 92,618 92,618
(1,143) 1,143 - - - - -
253 6,715 (1,868) 2,944 - - 8,044
- - - - 9,619 9,619) -
- - - - - (23,750) (23,750)
- 2,985 - - - - 2,985
10,954 52,439 (3,400) 4,935 12,691 80,683 158,302
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Note

Balance at 1 January
2024

Changes in equity for
2024

Profit and total
comprehensive
income for the year .

Cancellation of the
redemption liability .

Equity-settled share-
based transactions . .

24

26
Conversion te a joint
stock limited
liability company . .
Appropriation to
statulery reserve. .
Dividends declared to
equity shareholders .
Capital contributicn
from a sharcholder .

Balance at 31
December 2024 . . .

{unaudited) Note

Balance at 1 January
2024

Changes in equity for
the eight months
ended 31 August

2024:
Profit and total

comprehensive
income for the

period. . . ... ..
Cancellation of the

redemption liability .
Equity-settled share-

based transactions . .
Conversion to a joint

stock limited
liability company . .
Dividends declared to
equity shareholder. .
Balanee at 31 August
2024

24

26

28(c)

28(b)

28(c)
. 28(d)(iii)

28(b)

Equity

interests Shares 7
held for  held for Share-
employee  employee based
Paid-in Share Capilal Share incentive  incentive  payment  Statutory  Relained
tapital capital reserve  premium scheme scheme reserve reserve profits Tolal
RMB'G60  RMB'0C0  RME'000) RMB'000 RMB'0GD  RMB'000  RMB'G00  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'00D
10,954 - 52439 - (3,400 - 4935 12,691 80,683 158,302
- - - - - - - - 60,833 60,8332
- - 151713 - - - - - ~ 16,173
- - 441 5,435 122 (56) (312) - - 5,630
(16,934) 50,000 (6%,033) 155202 3,278 (3,270 - (12,691) (112,504) -
- - - - - - - 6,083 (6,083) -
_ _ - - - - - - (20,000) (20,000)
- - - 58 - - - - - 53
- 50,000 - 161,165 - (333) 4,623 6,083 2,020 221,466
Equily
Interests Shares
held for  held for Share-
employee  employee based
Paid-in Share Capital Share ineentive  [ncemlive  paymemt  Slafutory  Refained
capital capital reserve  premium  scheme scheme reserve reserve profits Total
AMB'000  RMB'OS0 RMB'600 RMB'D00 RMB'000 RMB'000 ARMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
Cloes4 0 o 439 - (400 - 4935 12691 80683 138302
- - - - - - - - 69,067 69,067
- - 16,173 - - - - - - 16,173
- - 441 362 122 68 2,913 - - 3,906
(10,954) 50,000 (69,053) 155202 3,278  {3,279) - (12,69]) (112,504) -
- - - - - - - - (20,000) (20,000)
- 50,000 - 155,564 - (3,210y 7,848 - 17,246 227448
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Shares
held for Share-

employee--  based .
Share Share incentive  payment  Statutory  Retained
Note capital premium scheme reserve reserve profits Total

RMB'020  RMB'GO0 RMB'060 RMB'006 RMB'000 RMB'060  RMB'000

Balance at 1 January 2025 | . 50,000 161,165 (3,334) 4,623 6,083 2,929 221,466

Changes in equity for the
eight months ended
31 August 2025:

Profit and total comprehensive

income for the period. . . . . - - - - - 67,388 67,388
Equity-settled share-based

transactions . . . ........ 26 - - - 3,041 - - 3,041
Balance at 31 August 2025 . . 50,000 161,165 (3,334) 7,664 6,083 70,317 291,895

(b} Dividends

During the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and
2025, the Company declared dividends of nil, RMB23,750,000, RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000 (unaudited) and
nil, respectively to its equity shareholders.

{¢) Paid-in capital and share capital

No, of ordinary
shares issued and
Note fully paid Paid-in capital Share capital

'00a RMB'00G RMB'000

At 1 Jannary 2022, 31 December 2022

and 1 January 2023 ... ....... .. - 11,844 -
Capital injection from equity

sharcholders under Employee Incentive

Scheme 2023 ... ............. 26 - 253 -
Partial settlement of the redemption

liability . . . . ... ... ... ... ... 24 - (1,143) -
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January

2024, . - 10,954 -

Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion
into a joint stock limited liability

COMIPANY . . . . oot it i (i) 50,000 (10,954) 50,000
At 31 December 2024 and 31 August

2025, .o 50,000 - 50,000
Note:

(i)  Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolutions dated 26 August 2024 and the promoters’ agreement dated 23
August 2024, the shareholders of the Company agreed to convert the Company into a joint stock limited
liability company, The net assets of the Company as of the conversion base date, which is 29 February
2024, including paid-in capital, capital reserve, statutory reserve and retained profits were converted
into 50,000,000 ordinary shares at RMB1.00 each. The excess of the net assets converted over the
nominal value of the ordinary shares was credited to the Company’s share premium. Upon the
completion of registration with the Pingtan Administration for Industry and Commerce on 29 August
2024, the Company was converted into a joint stock limited liability company under PRC Company
Law.
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The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Capital reserve and share premium

The capital reserve of the Group represents contribution from sharcholders in excess of the registered paid-in
capital of the Company before its conversion into a joint stock limited liability company in August 2024,

The share premium of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
of the Company and its net assets value as of the conversion base date upon the conversion into a joint stock limited
liability company in August 2024,

{it) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the portion of difference between the fair value of shares granted
and the consideration paid by the directors and employees of the Group that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note 2(p)(ii).

(iti) Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s Chinese Mainland companies and relevant statutory
regulations, appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made at 10% of profit after tax determined in
accordance with accounting rules and regulations of the Chinese Mainland until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital. This reserve fund can be untilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing capital of the
Chinese Mainland companies provided that the balance after such conversion is not less than 235% of their registered
capital, and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
2(t).

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, 5o that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligatiens resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited becanse the counterparties are banks

and financial institutions for which the Group considers to represent low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
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Current frade receivables without a significant financing component

The Group has established a credit risk management policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer's past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are
due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months past due are
requested to settle all ontstanding balances before any further eredit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, 4.00%, 4.58%, 4.62% and 0.08%
of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer in each year/period during the Track Record
Period respectively within the segment of mechanical massage POS operation support services under the Partner
Mode, and 25.22%, 15.93%, 13.67% and 8.07% of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers in each year/period during the Track Record Period respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for current trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated nsing a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different type of customer, the loss allowance based on past due status is not distinguished
ameng the Group’s different customer types.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for current trade
receivables:

As at 31 December 2022

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'000 RMB'000
Current (not pastdue) .. ............... 0.7% 1,224
Less than 3 months past due . . ... ........ 9.1% 11 1
More than 3 months but less than | year
pastdue .. ... ... e 54.7% 2,261 1,236
Past due over L year .. . ............... 85.0% 534 454
4,030 1,700
As at 31 December 2023
Gross carrying
Expected loss rate amount Laoss allowance
RMB'000 RMB'000
Current (notpastdue) . ................ 1.4% 910 13
Less than 3 months past due . . . . ... . . ..., 12.5% 32 4
More than 3 months but less than 1 year
pastdue ... ... ... ... 62.6% 1,002 627
Pastdue over 1 year .. ... ............. 95.9% 1,140 1,094
3,084 1,738
As at 31 December 2024
Gross carrying
Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'0060 RMB'00G
Current (not pastdue) . . .. ............. 1.9% 937 18
Less than 3 months pastdue . ... ... ...... 18.2% 2 —*
More than 3 months but less than 1 year past
due . ... 84.1% 132 111
Pastdueover Lyear . .. ............... - 99.9% 944 943
2,015 1,072
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As at 31 August 2025

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'006 RMB"000

Current {not past due) . ................ 2.5% 4,056 102

Less than 3 months pastdue . . .. ......... 23.9% 46 11
More than 3 months but less than 1 year

pastdue . ... ... 89.0% 246 219

Pastdueover L year ... ............... 99.7% 654 652

5,002 984

* This amount is less than RMB300.
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 36 months. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected,

current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivabies,

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of current trade receivables during the years ended 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025 is as follows;

Eight months

Year ended 31 December ended 31 August
2022 2023 2024 : 2025
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000
Balance at 1 January . . .. ... ... 617 1,700 1,738 1,072
Amounts written off . ......... - - (684) (678)
Impairment losses recognised. . . . . 1,083 38 18 590
Balance at 31 December/31 August . 1,700 1,738 1,072 984

Trade receivables with significant financing component

The Group generally requires trade receivables with significant financing component to be seitled in equal in
36 months from the date of billing, Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers. The Group has
put in place continuous monitoring mechanism, with regular reporting of credit exposures te internal management of
credit risk. The Group’s credit risk management covers key operational phases, including credit approval and
post-sales monitoring, Any adverse events that may significantly affect a customer’s repayment ability are reported
immediately, and actions are taken to mitigate the risks.

The Group measures loss allowance for non-current trade receivables as disclosed in note 2(h)(i).

The ECL is the result of the discounted product of probability of default (PD}, exposure at defanit (EAD) and
loss given default (LGD). The definitions of these terms are as follows:

- PD refers to the likelihood that a counterparty will be unable to meet his repayment obligations over the
next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the receivables;

- EAD is the amount that the Group should be reimbursed upon default of an obligor over the next 12
months or the remaining lifetime of the receivables;

- LGD refers to the expected degree of loss arising from the exposure at default which is predicted by the

Group. LGD varies according to different types of counterparties, methods and priority of recovering
debis.
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The Group determines the expected credit losses by estimating the PD, LGD and EAD of individual exposure
or asset porifolios in the future months. The Group multiplies these three parameters and makes adjustments
according to the probability of their continuance (i.e. there is no prepayment or default at an earlier period). By
adopting this approach, the Group can calculate the expected credit losses for the future months. The results of
calculation for each month are then discounted to the balance sheet date and added up. The discount rate used in the
calculation of ECL is the initial effective interest rate or its approximate value.

As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, there were no trade receivables with a significant financing
component. The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables with a significant financing component as at 31 August 2025.

As at 31 August 2025

12-month ECL

RMB 000
Gross Carrying amount . . . . . . ..ottt e e e e 3,556
Less: Loss allowance . . . . . .. .. ... . e e (108)

Net carrying amonnt . . . . .. . ..ottt e e e 3,448

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables with a significant financing
component during the eight months ended 31 August 2025 is as follows:

Eight months ended
31 August 2025

12-month ECL

RMB'000
Balance at 1 January . . . . . . . o i h e e e e e -
Impairment losses recognised . . . . ... ... .. . e [08

Balance at 31 Angust. . . . . . i e e e 108

Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits. The expected credit losses are estimated by
applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The following table
provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for deposits and other receivables:

As at 31 December 2022

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB000 RMB'000
Within Lyear. . ... ... o o o 6.2% 28,510 1,757
Over 1 year but within 2 years. . . ... ... ... 13.9% 5,120 713
Over 2 years but within 3 years . . ... ... ... 50.0% 1,175 587
Over3years . . ............. ........ 100.0% 6,332 6,332
41,137 9,389

73



Within 1 year. .. ..............
Over 1 year but within 2 years. . . . ..
Over 2 years but within 3 years . . . ..
Over3years.................

Within 1 year. . ............ ...
Over | year but within 2 years. . . . . .
Over 2 years but within 3 years . . . . .
Over3years . .. ..............

Within 1 year. . .. .............
Over 1 year but within 2 years. . . . . .
Over 2 years but within 3 years . . . . .
Overdyears . . ... ..o v v v v v v

As at 31 December 2023

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'000 RMB’000
...... 4.9% 47,700 2,338
...... 18.8% 2,162 406
...... 29.3% 4,428 1,299
...... 100.0% 3,954 3,954
58,244 7,997

As at 31 December 2024

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'000 RMB’000
...... 4.6% 54,521 2,504
...... 13.7% 6,093 832
...... 53.6% 2,368 1,269
...... 100.0% 5,197 5,197
68,179 9,802

As at 31 August 2025

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amount Loss allowance
RMB'0G0 RMB'G00
...... 3.8% 61,950 2,373
...... 10.7% 6,366 683
...... 31.2% 2,098 655
...... 100.0% 6,448 6,448
76,862 10,159

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of deposits and other receivables during the years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025 is as follows:

Balance at 1 Janvary . . ... .....
Amounts written off . . . ... ...,
Impairment losses recognised. . . . .

Balance at 31 December/31 August .

Year ended 31 December

Eight months
ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB 000 RMB*000 RMB'600 RMB 000
8,182 9,389 7,997 9,802
(202) (3,070) (765) (190}
1,409 1,678 2,570 547
9,389 7,997 9,802 10,159
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(b)  Liquidity risk

The treasury functien of the Group is centrally managed by the Group, which includes the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of funds to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term,

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) the date
the Group is contractually required to pay, or if the counterparty has the choice of when the amount shounld be paid
(irrespective of the fulfilment of covenants), and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

As at 31 December 2022

Carrying
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow amount on
[ lidated
More than 1 More than 2 statements of
Within 1 year year but less years but less financial
or on demand than 2 years than § years Total position
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0G0 RMB000 RMB'000
Bank loans . ... ...... 18,710 - - 18,710 18,271
Trade and other payables . 60,752 - - 69,752 69,752
Lease liabilities . . . .. .. 5,101 3,037 4,206 12,344 11,478
Redemption liability . . . . 75,062 - - 75,062 75,002
168,625 3,037 4,206 175,868 174,563
As at 31 December 2023
Carrylng
Contractual undisconnted cash outflow amount on
consotidated
More than 1 More than 2 statements of
Within 1 year year but less years but less financial
or on demand than 2 years than 5 years Total position
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 600
Bank [oans .. ........ 44,060 7,715 6,576 58,411 56,122
Trade and other payables . 152,184 - - 152,184 152,184
Lease liabilities . ... ... 8,971 5,069 2,980 17,020 16,154
Redemption liability . . . . 16,009 - - 16,009 16,009
221,224 12,844 9,556 243,624 240,469
As a1 31 December 2024
Carrying
Contractual undiscounted cash outllow amount on
consolidated
More than 1 More than 2 statements of
Within 1 year year bot less years but less financial
or on demand than 2 years than 5 years Total posttion
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 0G0 RMB'0OG
Bankloans .......... 44,646 10,069 1,694 56,409 54,873
Trade and other payables . 161,871 - - 161,871 161,871
Lease liabilities ... ... . 6,337 2,408 586 9,331 9,002
212,854 12,477 2,280 227,611 225,746
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As at 31 August 2025

Carrying
Contractual undiscounted eash outllow amount on
consclidated
. More than 1 More than 2 statements of
- Within 1 year year but less years but less financial
or on demand than 2 years than 5 years Total position
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00G RMB060
Bank loans . ......... 55,338 - - 55,338 54,532
Trade and other payables . 143,911 - - 143,911 143,911
Lease liabilities . .. . ... 4,014 1,685 148 5,847 5,685
203,263 1,685 148 205,096 204,128

(¢) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash at banks,
negotiable certificate of deposit, bank loans, redemption liability and lease liabilities. Interest-bearing financial
instruments at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest
rate risk, respectively. The Group’s interest rate risk profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the
Group at the end of each reporting period:

As at 31 December As at 31 August
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Fixed rate instruments:

Negotiable certificate of deposit . . 15 - 10,007 10,172 -
Lease liabilities. . . . ... ...... 23 (11,478) (16,154) {9,002) (5,685)
Bankloanms. . .. ............ 22 (9,963) (42,425) (37,464) (39,524)
(21,441) (48,572) (36,294) (45,209)

Variable rate instruments:
Bank loans. . . . ............ 22 (8,308) (13,697 (17,409) (15,008)
Cash at bank and on hand . . . . .. 18(a) 38,580 36,624 17,471 45,019

Cash balances with payment
platforms . . ... ... ... .... 18(a} 4,631 2,267 2,213 [,675
34,903 25,194 2,275 31,686

(if)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of
100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit after tax and retained profits by approximately RMB302,000, RMB221,000, RMB20,000 and RMB236,000

respectively.
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The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
arising from floating rate nen-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting pericd, the impact
on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised (pro-rata as required) impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The sensitivity analyses are performed on the same basis
during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025.

(d} Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Chinese Mainland and most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in RMB, The management considers the Group’s exposure to currency risk is insignificant.

(e) Fair value measurement
() Financial assets and Habilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 3, Fair value measurement, The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level | valuations:  Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

. Level 2 valuations:  Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail
to meet Level [, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.

. Level 3 valuations:  Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 31 December 2022 categorised into
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'060 RMB'00G

Recurring fair value

measurements
Asset;
‘Wealth management products . 20,519 - 20,519 -
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 Decemnber 31 Decemtber 2023 categorised into
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'006 RMB600
Recurring fair value .
measurements
Assets: i
Wealth management products . 15,751 - 15,751 -
Negotiable certificate of
deposit . ............ 10,007 - 10,007 -
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(i)

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 31 December 2024 categorised into
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB'000 RMB'606 RMB'000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value
measurements
Asset:
Negotiable ceriificate of
deposit ... .......... 10,172 - 10,172 -
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 August 31 August 2025 categorised into
2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value
measurements
Asset;
Wealth management products . 60,097 - 60,097 -

During the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2025,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measuremenis
Valuation method nsed for wealth management products and negotiate certificate of deposit

The fair value of wealth management products and negotiate certificate of deposit in level 2 is
determined by using the DCF models. Future cash flows are estimated based on contractual terms of the wealth
management products and negotiate certificate of deposit and discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of counterparties.

Fair value of financial assets and Habilities carried at amortised cost

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments carried at amortised cost were not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025,

30

COMMITMENTS

Commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 not provided for in

the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

As at 31 December As at 31 August
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'060 RMB'000
Contracted for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment . . . 3,854 12,532 26,810 13,491
Contracted for short-term leases . . . 7,823 10,262 6,112 10,414
11,677 22,794 32,922 23,905
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31  MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following material related party transactions during the years ended 31 December

2022, 2023 and 2024 and the eight months ended 31 August 2024 and 2025,

Name of related parties Relationship

Fujian Rovos Fitness Co., Ltd. (iEEAEEHRE Entity controlled by a director of the Group

BBBEBAR ...
Mr. Xie Zhonghui (BIEHE. .. ... . ... ... .. One of the Controlling Sharcholders
* The English translation of the company’s name is for reference only. The official name of this company

is in Chinese.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and supervisors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'GOD RMB'000 RMB'G00 RMB'000
tunaudited}

Salaries, wages, allowances and

other benefits in kind. . . . . . 2,631 3,592 4,474 2,741 3,818
Retirement scheme

contributions . . . .. ... ... 21 25 50 32 48
Equity-settled share-based

payment expenses. . . .. ... 484 4,978 2,749 1,965 1,543

3,136 8,595 7,273 4,738 5,409

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).

(b}  Other transactions with related parties

Year ended 31 December

Eight months ended 31 August

2022 2023 2024

2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'G00

Trade in nature:
Purchase of equipment and
spare parts
— Entity controlled by a
director of the Group . . . . 5,023 1,044 11,477
Purchase of research and
development outsource
service
— Entity controlled by a
director of the Group . . . . - - 198
Sales of spare parts of
mechanical massage
equipment
— Entity controlled by a
director of the Group . . . . - - -
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{(¢) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December As at 31 August

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Trade in nature
Trade and other payables
— Entity controlled by a director
of the Group . . . . ........ 382 237 11,348 6,667
Trade and other receivables
~ Entity controlled by a director
of the Group . . . . ........ - - - 466

(d} As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025, the bank loans guaranteed by cne of the
controlling shareholders and his affiliated individual were RMB 15,250,000, RMB56,122,000, RMB 54,873,000
and nil respectively (note 22(a)).

32 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The directors of the Company considered the ultimate controlling party of the Company as at 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 and 31 August 2025 was Mr.Xie Zhonghui.

33  POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR AMENDMENTS STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD BEGINNING ON 1 JANUARY 2025

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of new
or amended standards, which are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2025 and
which have not been adopted in the consolidated financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

Elfective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026
instruments: disclosures - Contracts referencing nature-dependent
electricity. . . . . o e e e e

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026

instruments: disclosures ~ Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments . . .. .. ... ... ...

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11. . . . 1 January 2026
IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements . . . . ., . 1 January 2027
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures . . . . . 1 January 2027
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets To be determined

between an investor and its associate or joint venture . . . .. .. ... by the IASB

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial stafemenis

IFRS 18 will replace IAS | Presentation of financial statements and aims to improve the transparency and
comparability of information about an entity’s financial statements, IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and is to be applied retrospectively.

Among other changes, under IFRS 18, entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five
categories in the statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and
income tax categories. Entities are also required to provide specific disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note in the financial statements.

The Group does not plan to early adopt IFRS 18. IFRS 18 will impact the presentation of financial statements
and is not expected to have significant impact on the financial performance and positions of the Group.
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of other developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that, except for IFRS 18 as mentioned above, the
adoption of these developments is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidate financial statements of the
Group.

34 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REFORTING PERIOD

On 9 October 2025, the Company declared dividends of RMB25,000,000 to its equity shareholders, and
payment of such dividend had been made in November 2025.
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